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Underlying EBITDA 2016:

478
NOK million

Underlying Revenue 2016:

5 764
NOK million

Number of employees:

2 715
Underlying EBITA 2016:

337 
NOK million

Key figures Saferoad Group

NOK million 2016 2015 Change %

    

Underlying Revenue 1) 5 764 5 506 + 5 

Road Safety 4 015 3 814 + 5 

Road Infrastructure 1 787 1 693 + 6 
    

Underlying EBITDA 1) 478 414 + 15 

Underlying EBITDA margin % 8.3 % 7.5 % + 0.8pp

    

Underlying EBITA 1) 337 276 + 22 

Underlying EBITA margin % 5.9 % 5.0 % + 0.9pp

  

Road Safety 259 232 + 12 

Road Infrastructure 116 83 + 40 

Underlying EBITA 1) 337 276 + 22 

Items excluded from EBITA 1) 57 183

Reported EBITA 280 93 + 201 

Road Safety Road Infrastructure

31%

69%

3 000

3 500

4 000

4 500
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Reported revenue by business area 2016 Reported revenue development (NOK million)

1) Items excluded from Underlying Revenue, EBITDA and EBITA are specified in Alternative performance measures page 21  
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Saferoad operates in attractive markets with a positive 
outlook for the future. Public spending for road infrastructure 
in our markets is expected to show healthy growth rates in 
the coming years.

Morten Holum 
CEO Saferoad
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Message from the CEO
Every year, more than 2 700 service-minded Saferoad 
employees deliver products and solutions to a substantial 
number of our customers´ projects across more than  
20 European countries.
 
I am extremely proud of the effort and dedication that our employees display in their service of the 
customers. It is only by adding value to customers in ways that make them successful that we 
secure our own success. This is our everyday task – and our commitment. 

The Group had a strong year in 2016, further developing our leading positions in several European 
markets. The operating performance improved significantly from 2015, with an Underlying 
Revenue growth of 5 per cent and an underlying EBITA growth of 22 per cent. I am particularly 
satisfied with the performance improvement achieved in the Road Safety business in Europe 
following a reorganisation at the end of 2015. We also strengthened our Road Infrastructure 
business in the Nordics, where we achieved synergies from bolt-on acquisitions and streamlined 
the production setup in Sweden. In the Road Safety Nordic region, we experienced softer trading 
in 2016 when lower project volume in the second half of the year led to reduced margins and 
lower operating leverage compared to 2015. However, we expect higher project volume in 2017 
and have also launched a series of operational measures that will positively impact performance 
of this business in 2017. In addition to our strength in home markets, we saw further evidence 
that our product portfolio is competitive also in export markets. In 2016, we successfully delivered 
our solutions within both business areas to projects in several countries in Northern Africa and the 
Middle East. 

Our purpose in Saferoad is to make life on the road safer. Around 25 000 people are killed in traffic 
accidents on European roads every year, and each one of these fatalities is devastating to those 
that are impacted – family members, friends and colleagues. In addition, traffic accidents represent 
a tremendous cost to society. Consequently, the EU and its member states have targeted to 
reduce the number of road fatalities by 50 per cent by 2020. Saferoad plays an important role in 
achieving that target. Our products and services can help both to reduce the number of accidents 
and to lessen the impact of accidents that occur. With our broad portfolio of road safety products, 
we will actively contribute to reduce the number of road fatalities. This makes what we do truly 
meaningful. 

We take great pride in delivering high quality products and solutions that improves road safety. 
Similarly, we also want our employees to come home safe from work. As a result, we are executing 
a Group-internal program to raise the health and safety standard in all our businesses, engaging 
the same vision zero mind-set towards worker safety as we have towards road safety. 

Saferoad operates in attractive markets with a positive outlook for the future. Public spending for 
road infrastructure in our markets is expected to show healthy growth rates in the coming years. 
This is driven by a need to build new roads and to improve the maintenance and safety standards 
of existing roads. Saferoad is well positioned to capitalise on this development. With our strong 
market positions, leading expertise, cost effective supply chain and extensive local presence, we 
are confident that we will be able to develop the company further and drive profitability. Together 
with an experienced and engaged team of Saferoad employees, I am looking forward to pursuing 
these exciting opportunities in 2017 and beyond.
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 Saferoad in brief

Saferoad is a leading road safety and road infrastructure solutions 
provider in Northern, Central and Eastern Europe. The Group's 
business is to design, manufacture and deliver products and 
solutions that improve the road safety and road infrastructure 
standards. Saferoad plays an important role in various stages 
throughout new road construction projects and within maintenance 
and upgrades of existing roads. The Group operates in an attractive 
and growing infrastructure market, driven by increased traffic 
volumes, strong political commitment to reduce the maintenance 
lag on existing roads and favourable public and political attitudes 
towards improving road safety standards. 

The Group has leading positions in several markets across Europe, 
combining strong responsiveness to customer needs through 
an extensive local presence and a cost effective supply chain. 
The Group serves the most product-intensive parts of the road 
construction value chain, delivering products and solution to those 
that own, build and maintain roads. The Group is organised in two 
main business areas, Road Safety and Road Infrastructure. 

Saferoad  |  Annual report 20166



  Saferoad present
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Comprehensive product offering
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ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE
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Road Safety

Road Safety is Saferoad’s largest business area, representing 
around 70 per cent of total revenue. The customer offering 
comprises products and solutions designed to improve road 
safety, the majority of which are developed and manufactured 
within the Group. In addition, certain complimentary products 
are traded from renowned international partners. The product 
portfolio consists mainly of road restraint systems (guard rails, 
bridge parapets and crash cushions), light poles, signs, work 
zone protection and road marking. Saferoad is an integrated 
solutions provider with capabilities to deliver the full spectrum 
of services, from design to installation, to its customers. The 
products are engineered and tailored to fit different customer 
needs, fulfilling both the safety and aesthetic requirements in 
each specific project. 

The business area is split in two geographical business regions, 
Road Safety Nordic and Road Safety Europe. The Nordic busi-
ness region consists of Norway and Sweden as the two largest 
markets, in addition to smaller businesses in Denmark, Finland 
and the UK. Saferoad operates in the region as a full-suit 
supplier with a strong presence in all main product categories 
and offers products from 45 locations. The Europe business 
region consists of Germany and Poland as the two largest 
markets, in addition to smaller businesses in other countries in 
Western, Central and Eastern Europe. In this region, Saferoad is 
focused on selected product niches and offers its products from 
17 locations, including an export office in Berlin, Germany and a 
central manufacturing site in Poland. 

38.3%
8.6%

10.1%

11.5% 12.8%

18.8%

Road restraint systems
Light poles

SignsRoad marking
Work zone protection Other

Norway Sweden Germany Denmark
Poland UK Czech Rep. Other

29.2%

19.3%

7.3%

6.8%

4.4%

21.3%

1.9%
8.8%

Revenue by product category 2016 Revenue by geographical area 2016
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The Road Infrastructure business area represents around 30 
per cent of total revenue and operates under the ViaCon brand. 
The customer offering comprises products and solutions for 
subgrade construction, which refers to the process of stabilising 
and reinforcing the terrain, including structural subgrade work 
related to bridges and ensuring sufficient drainage of water. 
Similar to the Road Safety area, the majority of products are 
designed and manufactured within the Group, while com-
plimentary products are traded from renowned international 
partners. The product portfolio consists of soil steel bridges, 
pipes and culverts (both steel and plastic), geosynthetics and 
water and sewage. As for the Road Safety area, the Group is 
an integrated solutions provider with capabilities to deliver the 
full spectrum of services, from design to installation, to fulfil the 
needs of its customers. Technical expertise and skilled employ-
ees are particularly important for the engineering-intensive 
products areas, in particular soil steel bridges and geotechnical 

solutions. The markets are served through a combination of 
a local network of sales offices, local warehouses and central 
manufacturing sites.

The business area is split in two geographical business regions, 
Road Infrastructure Nordic and Road Infrastructure Europe. 
Road Infrastructure Nordic consists of Sweden and Finland as 
the two largest markets, in addition to businesses in Norway 
and Denmark. The business area offers its products from 16 
locations. Road Infrastructure Europe consists of Poland and 
Lithuania as the two largest markets, in addition to businesses 
across the Baltics, CEE and Turkey. Customers are served 
from 30 locations, with a selective outreach to countries in the 
Middle Eastern and North Africa from export hubs in Poland 
and Turkey.

Road infrastructure

Soil steel bridges

Pipes & culverts
Water & sewage Other
Geosynthetics

23.2%

17.8%

18.9%

22.5%

17.7%

Sweden Poland Lithuania Finland
Norway Romania Other

32.3%

16.0%

9.1%

4.7%

2.1%

16.1%

19.0%

Revenue by product category 2016 Revenue by geographical area 2016
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 Vision and strategy

Saferoad's vision is to be the number one road safety and  
road infrastructure solutions provider in Europe. The Group´s 
strategy is focused on three main pillars:

• strengthening and further developing its strong  
positions in home markets

• driving growth in selected attractive product niches  
and geographies

• leveraging its combined capabilities, further capturing  
scale benefits and synergies across the Group

Through the Group´s extensive geographical footprint and broad 
products and solutions offering, Saferoad is well positioned to 
capitalise on favourable markets trends and deliver on its ambition 
of further revenue and earnings growth, both organically and 
through accretive acquisitions from its Northern and Central 
European base.
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Board of Director's report

Saferoad is a leading road safety and road infrastructure solutions provider in 
Northern, Central and Eastern Europe. Saferoad confirmed its strong position in 
2016 by increasing both its revenue and earnings, driven by higher volume, cost 
efficiency measures and acquisition synergies.

Performance

Underlying operating results 1)

 · Underlying Revenue increased by 5 per cent to NOK 5 764 million

 · Underlying EBITDA increased by 15 per cent to NOK 478 million 

 ·   Underlying EBITDA margin increased to 8.3 per cent from 7.5 per cent

 · Underlying EBITA increased by 22 per cent to NOK 337 million 

 ·   Underlying EBITA margin increased to 5.9 per cent from 5.0 per cent

Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15

5 506 5 628 5 787 5 920 5 764

Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15

276 284 305 337336

Underlying Revenue
Last twelve months (LTM)
NOK million

Underlying EBITA 
Last twelve months (LTM)
NOK million

Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15

414 424 448 480 478

Underlying EBITDA 
Last twelve months (LTM)
NOK million

NOK million 2016 2015 Change %

    

Revenue Underlying  5 764 5 506 + 5 

EBITDA Underlying 478 414 + 15 

EBITA Underlying 337 276 + 22 

EBITA Reported 280 93 + 201 

EBITDA Underlying margin% 8.3 % 7.5 % + 0.8pp

EBITA Underlying margin% 5.9 % 5.0 % + 0.9pp

1) To provide a better understanding of Saferoad's underlying performance, the discussion of underlying operating results excludes certain non-recurring and non-operational items from 
EBITDA (earnings before financial items, tax, depreciation and amortisation) and EBITA (earnings before financial items, tax and amortisation), such as restructuring charges and closure 
costs, transaction cost, depreciation of excess values and impairment charges, as well as other items that are of a special nature or are not expected to be incurred on an ongoing basis.
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Underlying Revenue increased by 5 per cent in 2016 to NOK 5 
764 million compared to the year before. The Group achieved 
significantly higher sales volumes in Road Safety Europe compared 
to 2015, taking advantage of favourable markets in Germany and 
Poland. In addition, the Group completed some accretive bolt-on 
acquisitions in 2015 that had a full-year effect in 2016. Around one 
third of the growth was related to currency effects.

Underlying EBITA for the Group increased by 22 per cent in 2016 
to NOK 337 million. The positive development was driven by 
higher sales volume and margins in both Road Safety Europe 
and Road Infrastructure Nordic.

The underlying EBITA margin in 2016 was 5.9 per cent (5.0 per 
cent), with improvements in both business areas.

Road Safety

NOK million 2016 2015 Change %

Revenue Underlying 4 015 3 814 + 5 

EBITDA Underlying 374 341 + 10 

EBITA Underlying 259 232 + 12 

EBITDA Reported 389 307 + 27 

EBITDA Underlying margin% 9.3 % 8.9 % + 0.4pp

EBITA Underlying margin% 6.4 % 6.1 % + 0.3pp

Total Underlying Revenue for the Road Safety business area 
increased by 5 per cent for the year to NOK 4 015 million, while 
underlying EBITA increased to NOK 259 million from NOK 232 
million.

In the Nordic region, Underlying Revenue for the year increased 
2 per cent to NOK 2 648 million. This was mainly driven by the 
Group’s continued expansion of the traffic accommodation 
business and a high success rate on larger road restraint system 
projects in the UK. In addition, revenue was positively impacted 
by currency translation effects following the depreciation of the 
NOK. Sales volumes of road restraint systems in Norway and 
Sweden were lower than the previous year.

Underlying EBITA in the Nordic region was NOK 155 million from 
NOK 191 million in 2015. Lower project volumes in the market 
for road restrains systems led to increased competition and lower 
capacity utilisation. Consequently, the EBITA margin declined 
to 5.9 percent for 2016, down from 7.3 per cent the year 
before. Several measures to increase production efficiency were 
introduced in 2016.

In the Europe region, Underlying Revenue in 2016 increased by 
12 per cent to NOK 1 438 million, driven by high volumes on the 
back of strong markets in Germany and Poland combined with 
some larger export projects.

Underlying EBITA in the Europe region increased to NOK 104 
million in 2016 from NOK 41 million in 2015. A reorganisation 
of the supply chain management in Q4 2015 had the targeted 
impact in terms of lower operating cost and increased operational 
efficiency in 2016. In addition, downscaling of the operations in 
Turkey had a positive effect. As a result, underlying EBITA margin 
increased to 7.2 per cent, up from 3.2 per cent last year.

Road Infrastructure

NOK million 2016 2015 Change %

Revenue Underlying 1 787 1 693 + 6 

EBITDA Underlying 142 112 + 27 

EBITA Underlying 116 83 + 40 

EBITDA Reported 151 99 + 53 

EBITDA Underlying margin% 8.0 % 6.6 % + 1.4pp

EBITA Underlying margin% 6.5 % 4.9 % + 1.6pp

Total Underlying Revenue for the Road Infrastructure business 
area increased by 6 per cent for the year to NOK 1 787 million, 
while underlying EBITA increased to NOK 116 million from NOK 
83 million.

In the Nordic region, Underlying Revenue for the year increased 
18 per cent, to NOK 851 million. The Group strengthened its 
position in Sweden by acquiring two companies in the second 
half of 2015. Increased competitiveness and actively pursuing 
higher value products also drove sales.

Underlying EBITA in the Nordic region more than doubled in 
2016 compared to 2015, to NOK 50 million from NOK 18 million, 
taking the underlying EBITA margin to 5.9 per cent from 2.5 per 
cent. The improvement was mainly a result of streamlining the 
production setup in Sweden, refocusing the sales approach in 
Denmark, shifting the product mix towards higher margin techni-
cal products and capturing acquisition synergies and operational 
efficiency measures.

In the Europe region, Underlying Revenue decreased by 1 per 
cent mainly as a result of lower sales in Poland and Turkey 
compared to 2015, driven by the phasing of projects year over 
year. In 2015, a number of projects in Poland and Turkey were 
executed late in the year, generating high revenue. The Group 
had a positive contribution from an acquisition in Q1 2016.

Underlying EBITA in the Europe region decreased to NOK 
70 million from NOK 74 million, mainly driven by lower sales 
volume, partly compensated by lower material costs. The 
underlying EBITA margin was 7.0 per cent, marginally lower 
than the previous year.

Saferoad  |  Annual report 201612



Reported results
The Saferoad Group
Reported revenue in 2016 was NOK 5 764 million, equal to 
Underlying Revenue. Reported earnings before financial items, 
tax and amortisation amounted to NOK 280 million in 2016, 
NOK 57 million lower than underlying EBITA. The reported 
EBITA included transaction cost related to preparations of the 
Group for a potential change of ownership of NOK 22 million 
and impairment charges of NOK 11 million. Reported earnings 
also included restructuring charges of NOK 8 million and 
depreciations of excess values of NOK 15 million.

In 2015, reported revenue was NOK 5 523 million, NOK 17 
million higher than Underlying Revenue due to adjustments 
for sold businesses. Reported earnings before financial items, 
tax and amortisation amounted to NOK 93 million, NOK 183 
million lower than underlying EBITA. The reported EBITA for 
2015 included significant costs related to disposals, impairment 
charges, transaction costs and depreciation of excess values. 
Further details are disclosed in the Alternative Performance 
Measures table on page 21.

In 2016 income before tax amounted to NOK (440) million, 
where impairment losses and net exchange losses significantly 
impacting the earnings. The total impairment losses of NOK 
(320) million consist mainly of an impairment loss of NOK (183) 
million relating to goodwill and intangible excess values recog-
nised in Road Safety Europe and an impairment loss of NOK 
(126) million through the write-off of the remaining goodwill of 
the business in Denmark. A net exchange rate loss of NOK (97) 
million and financial expenses of NOK (256) million were recog-
nised in 2016. In the previous year income before tax amounted 
to NOK (219) million including a net exchange rate gain of NOK 
61 million and financial expenses of NOK (294) million. 

Income taxes amounted to positive NOK 1 million in 2016, 
compared with a charge of NOK (45) million in 2015. Net 
income amounted to NOK (439) million in 2016, compared with 
NOK (264) million in 2015. 

Parent company
The Group’s legal structure was changed in 2016. A new com-
pany, Cidron Triangle AS was established in 2016 to serve as 
parent company, replacing Saferoad Holding AB as the highest 
governing body. Cidron Triangle AS owns 100 per cent of the 
shares in Saferoad Holding AB. 

The Group has applied predecessor accounting to the restruc-
turing and has accounted for the business combination under 
the pooling of interest method. The new Group has changed 
its presentation currency from SEK to NOK. See note 1 in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statement for further details.

There were no activity in the parent company in 2016 other 
than holding shares in the subsidiary Saferoad Holding AB and 
the profit/(loss) for the period 2016 was NOK 0. The Board of 
Cidron Triangle AS proposes not to distribute any dividends for 
2016.

Financial situation and capital structure
Saferoad aims to maintain a strong financial position, with 
emphasis on good operational management and sound 
management of financial risk. 

Total assets at year end 2016 was NOK 4 818 million, down 
from NOK 5 515 million the year before. Total investments in 
fixed and intangible assets amounted to NOK 188 million an 
increase of NOK 23 million compared to 2015. Total spending 
in research and development in 2016 amounted to NOK 16.8 
million, an increase of NOK 5.5 million from the year before. 
Saferoad had net non-current interest-bearing debt, excluding 
shareholder loans, of NOK 2.0 billion at the end of 2016, which 
is at the same level as the year before. 

Total equity was NOK 1 222 million at the end of 2016, up from 
NOK 1 036 million at the end of 2015, giving an equity ratio 
at year end of 25 per cent, compared to 19 per cent the year 
before. The increase in equity comes as an effect of a conver-
sion of a shareholder’s loan of NOK 612 million to new equity in 
December 2016.

The Group’s net cash flow from operations for the year was 
NOK 243 million, an increase of 12 per cent compared to 2015. 
The positive development in operating cash flow was mainly 
related to improved EBITDA, partly off-set by an increase of 
NOK 73 million in operating working capital 2). This increase was 
driven by higher revenue and additional raw material inventories 
purchased for orders scheduled for delivery in 2017.

The Group has facilities agreement with a bank syndicate of total 
NOK 2 517 million at 31 December 2016, consisting of long-
term loans of NOK 1 867 million and short-term credit facilities 
to secure seasonal working capital and guarantees. The short 
term financing consists of revolving credit facilities of NOK 650 
million. During 2016 Saferoad entered into an additional bi-lateral 
guarantee agreement, which is also governed by the senior 
facility agreement as permitted financial indebtedness, with a total 
of EUR 7 million (NOK 64 million). The revolving credit facilities are 
used primarily for working capital financing and ancillary facilities. 
At the end of 2016 NOK 413 million was utilized as debt draw-
downs used for working capital purposes, which is classified 
as current liabilities in the balance sheet, and NOK 253 million 
for guarantee purposes. Most of the liquidity within the Group 
resides within two cash pools to have visibility and accessibility to 
cash across the Group.

In addition, Saferoad has debt outside the facilities agreement 
and has previously received unsecured long-term loans from 
shareholders.

The term loans mainly have a bullet structure with minor 
instalments of approximately NOK 40 million and NOK 50 million 
late in 2017 and 2018 respectively. All facilities within the loan 
agreement mature at 30 June 2019. An equity guarantee of NOK 
300 million issued by Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. matures 1 July 2019, 
one day after the termination date of the facilities agreement. Any 
breach of covenants may be cured by utilising the guarantee, and 
any utilised amount will remain within the Group. 

Saferoad was in compliance with its financial covenants at 31 
December 2016.

2) Operating working capital consists of inventories,  
trade receivables and accounts payables.
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In accordance with section 3-3 of the Norwegian Accounting 
Act, the Board of Directors confirms that the financial state-
ments have been prepared on the assumption of a going 
concern.

Strategy and financial targets
Saferoad's long-term vision is to be the number one road safety 
and road infrastructure solutions provider in Europe. The main 
strategic objectives of the Group is to strengthen and develop 
its current positions, to drive growth in selected areas and to 
leverage the Group´s capabilities across its entire portfolio.

Through the Group's extensive geographical footprint and 
broad products and solutions offering, Saferoad is well posi-
tioned to benefit from favourable markets trends and deliver on 
its ambition to further grow the Group and improve profitability.

The mid-term financial targets for Saferoad are to achieve an 
average annual revenue growth of five per cent and to increase 
the underlying EBITDA margin towards the 10 per cent level. 
With the strong market outlook and the operational improve-
ment initiatives available, the Board has confidence in the 
company’s ability to meet these targets.

Market developments and outlook
Saferoad operates in the European road infrastructure market 
and delivers products and engineering solutions to road 
construction and maintenance projects. Saferoad's primary 
geographical markets are the Nordics, Western Europe and 
Central and Eastern Europe (CEE), of which the largest part of 
revenue comes from Norway, Sweden, Germany and Poland.

Market outlook
The outlook for Saferoad’s main markets is promising for 
the years ahead, driven by increased Government spend-
ing to build, maintain and upgrade the road infrastructure. 
Furthermore, the EU has in 2016 injected additional funds to 
transport infrastructure to boost jobs and economic growth. 
The markets and product segments in which the Group 
operates are on average expected to grow in excess of 5 per 
cent annually over the next 3-5 years. The growth rates in the 
Group´s four largest markets – Norway, Sweden, Germany and 
Poland – are expected to be on or above the average annual 
growth rate. The growth in Government spending is driven 
by increasing road traffic volumes, higher safety focus and 
Government efforts to reduce the existing maintenance lag on 
the road networks across Europe.

The Group is well positioned to capture this growth, with strong 
market positions in main markets, a competitive product port-
folio and an extensive sales and service network. In addition, 
the Group has a wide set of tangible operational improvement 
initiatives to ensure that it can remain competitive and improve 
the quality of earnings.

Risk factors and risk management
Saferoad is subject to several operational and financial risk 
factors and uncertainties which may affect parts or all of its 
activities. Through the Group’s risk management and internal 
control framework, Saferoad systematically identifies, assesses, 
communicates and manages risk throughout the Group. The 
responsibility for good risk management and internal control 

primarily rests with the first-line management, meaning the 
CEO and all managers and employees in the operational units, 
through the work they carry out in accordance with the authori-
sations, instructions and guidelines that apply to each of them. 

The following paragraphs describe some of the key risks that 
may impact the Group´s business operations, financial position 
and financial performance. The description also includes a 
summary of how the Group manages the risk and the actions it 
has taken to mitigate the risks.

Industry risk
Saferoad operates in a market that is primarily funded by public 
authorities, and the end customers are typically road authorities 
and local municipalities. The company can be affected by 
a downturn in the general economic environment, a lack of 
prioritised funds to the road infrastructure sector versus other 
sectors or a change in regulatory standards for road quality and 
road safety. In addition, changing behaviour and technology 
developments that reduce traffic volumes and investments in 
road infrastructure and maintenance may impact the Group’s 
business, revenue, profit and financial position. 

The Group is mitigating industry risk by diversification, both 
geographically and by products. The Group has a sizable foot-
print in over 20 European countries and also exports selected 
products outside its main footprint. Saferoad works actively with 
the company’s ability to quickly respond to customer needs by 
having a strong local presence and by focusing on continuous 
product and business model development. 

Operational risk
Saferoad’s operations consist of production and delivery to 
a large series of individual projects across Europe, and the 
individual orders vary in terms of complexity, size, duration and 
risk. Consequently, systematic risk management in all parts of the 
business is important. The Group usually undertakes to complete 
projects by a scheduled date and ensure that the delivered prod-
ucts and solutions meet specified performance standards. Failure 
to meet required performance standards, to deliver on time or 
to calculate offers accurately may impact earnings, capacity 
utilisation of the workforce and/or production sites and may result 
in reputational damage. Saferoad analyses and assesses risk in 
the tendering stage, and risk is managed systematically by the 
businesses throughout the entire execution phase. 

Operational risk also refers to losses due to weaknesses or 
faults in processes and systems, errors made by employees, 
or external events. To reduce the risk, emphasis is put on 
well-defined and clear lines of reporting and a clear division of 
responsibility in the organisation of the business. The Group has 
a decentralised governance structure, with local management 
having extended responsibility for the local operations. The 
Group continuously works to identify and to mitigate risks, in 
particular in respect of strategic, operational, compliance, tax 
and financial risks throughout the Group. A code of Conduct 
and a corporate compliance program and an encrypted report-
ing tool has been established to support the Group to avoid offi-
cial sanctions, financial losses or a loss of reputation because of 
failure to comply with laws, regulations and standards.
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Strategic risk
The Group’s future development and success depends on the 
strategies being relevant and effective for the Group, that the 
measures are being properly executed and that they provide 
the expected result. If the strategies are not relevant or effective 
for the Group or are not properly executed, the Group may 
fail to meet its targets. To ensure that the Group stays on top 
of developments, strategic risk is managed through continu-
ous monitoring of competitors and the market, follow-up of 
profitability, and through product development and planning 
processes. 

Financial and market risk
The Group is exposed to financial risks associated with 
financial instruments such as trade receivables, liquidity and 
interest-bearing debt. These risks are classified as credit, 
market and liquidity risks. For a more detailed presentation of 
the company’s financial risk, see note 18 in the 2016 financial 
statements. 

The Saferoad Group reports its financial results in Norwegian 
kroner (NOK). In general, both the revenue and the cost base 
of the Group's foreign subsidiaries' are primarily in their local 
currencies and the risk related to currency exchange fluctuation 
is limited. Nevertheless, subsidiaries may from time to time 
generate income or incur costs under currencies that differ from 
the currency of their operational costs. Furthermore, the Group 
is exposed to currency exchange fluctuations in connection with 
conversion of foreign currency when consolidating the Group 
accounts. 

Legal proceedings
From time to time, Saferoad and other companies in the 
Group may be involved in litigation, disputes and other legal 
proceedings arising in the normal course of their business. For 
a more detailed information, see note 28 in the 2016 financial 
statements.

Corporate governance 
Good corporate governance is a priority for the Board. The 
Board has based the Group’s corporate governance on the 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance and 
it has made adjustments to ensure that it complies with the 
Code. A more detailed account of how Saferoad complies with 
the Code of Practice for reporting on corporate governance is 
provided on pages 18 to 20 in the 2016 annual report. 

The Group’s legal structure was changed in 2016, ref. page 13. 
Up until December 2016, the Group’s operational corporate 
governance was overseen from Saferoad AS and Saferoad 
Holding AB.

Employees, corporate social responsibility  
and the environment 
At year end 2016, Saferoad had 2 715 (2 644) employees. 
The employees represent diversity in terms of age, education, 
experience and cultural background. Saferoad promotes a 
healthy and development oriented workplace. The Group works 
actively and systematically on competence-raising measures 
for managers and employees, and a number of measures and 
processes have been established to improve employees’ health, 
safety and working environment. 

Saferoad’s work on corporate social responsibility, including 
information about safety, the working environment, equality, 
discrimination, health and the natural environment, cf. the 
Accounting Act Section 3-3b, is described in a separate 
statement on pages 16 to 17 in the 2016 annual report. 

Oslo, 10 March 2017 
The Board of Cidron Triangle AS

Bård Martin Mikkelsen
Board member

Liisa Annika Poutiainen 
Board member

Synnøve Lyssand Sandberg
Board member

Gry Hege Sølsnes
Board member

Morten Holum
CEO

Carl Johan Henrik Ek
Chairman of the Board

Olof Bertil Faxander
Board member

Jan Torgeir Hovden
Board member

Knut Brevik 
Board member

Britt Sandvik
Board member
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As a supplier of road safety and infrastructure solutions, Saferoad relies on the trust of 
our customers, authorities, and the general public. The company has built that trust 
over more than 70 years of operation, through reliable delivery of high quality products 
and services, and by setting and rigorously maintaining high ethical standards for all 
our business dealings. Saferoad relies on a set of shared core values and a clear code 
of conduct to guide behaviour and to build a strong Group culture.

Vision Zero is our mission
Saferoad has adopted Vision Zero as its mission, whereby no loss 
of life in traffic is considered acceptable. Vision Zero acknowledges 
that while road travel is an essential part of society today, people 
also make mistakes. Consequently, prevention of fatalities and 
serious injuries in traffic remains a key priority for society – and for 
Saferoad. And, given human fallibility, roads should be designed 
and equipped to protect those who travel on them. 

To realise Vision Zero, Saferoad focuses on continuous 
improvements to the safety, functionality, durability, design, and 
installation of our products and solutions. 

Core values
Saferoad is a value-based organisation and lives by a common 
set of core values that apply to all employees across the Group:

 · Respect: Mutual respect promotes an open, honest, and safe 
work environment. We treat our colleagues and partners fairly, 
and as equals. 

 · Care: Our people are our prime asset, and a free exchange of 
thoughts and ideas, offered in a supportive and constructive 
environment, where everybody is seen and heard, enables us 
to capitalise on everybody’s competence and contributions. 

 · Drive: Enthusiasm and drive release the creativity and cour-
age required to build a winning team and a great company. 
The company’s strong drive helps us attract the best people 
and the most demanding customers – we need them both. 

 · Integrity: Saferoad’s credibility is earned through the compe-
tence, behaviour, performance, and integrity lived by every one 
of us, every day. Any relationship – customer, partner, colleague, 
or other – should be handled in a professional manner.

Code of Conduct
The Group´s Code of Conduct outlines the key principles for 
Saferoad’s operations with regards to business ethics, and 
our impact on the environment and on society in general. Key 
elements are; respectful and ethical conduct; compliance with 
legal frameworks in the countries where Saferoad operates; 
safe handling of information; safe operations and a sound 
work environment; and reduction of the external environmental 
impact from the company’s activities. 

The Code of Conduct applies to all employees, contracted 
consultants, and board members. The code is non-negotiable, 
and violations may result in disciplinary proceedings, dismissal 
or even prosecution.

Compliance
To assist Group companies and individual employees to comply 
with applicable law and business ethics, Saferoad has designed 
a Corporate Compliance Program that comprises our Code of 
Conduct and whistleblowing policy, as well as specific manuals 
for the areas of anti-bribery, competition compliance, data 
protection, and trade sanctions. Saferoad regularly provides 
training in specific compliance areas relevant for the employee’s 
responsibilities and in line with the Group´s risk profile.

The overall oversight and implementation of the Corporate 
Compliance Program is the responsibility of the CEO, while the 
Risk Management function is responsible for the maintenance 
and further development of the program, as well as for conduct-
ing compliance audits on a regular basis. The Risk Management 
function reports directly to the CEO and has regular access to 
the Board of Directors. The Risk Management function is also 
the first point of contact for compliance-related questions.

Whistleblowing 
Employees are encouraged to raise their concerns if they 
discover matters that negatively affect the company’s vital 
interests or the health and safety of individuals. Saferoad has 
implemented a whistleblowing system and pledges to act on 
any concern raised. To ensure that concerns can be reported 
without a threat of retaliation or discrimination, Saferoad has 
implemented an encrypted reporting tool from an independent 
external provider and appropriate routines for the handling of 
information collected through the reporting tool. 

Anti-bribery
Saferoad maintains a strict line against corruption in any shape 
or form. It is strictly forbidden for any employee or person acting 
on behalf of the company, to receive, offer, or authorise a gift of 
money or other valuables with the intention to influence profes-
sional duties or retain undue business advantage. The policy is 
valid in all locations and in all relations. Special caution is advised 
in relation to public authorities. Saferoad’s use of consultants and 
agents acting on their behalf is limited, but in such cases, they 
should adhere to Saferoad’s anti-bribery compliance policy.

Statement on corporate and social 
responsibility Saferoad Group
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Competition
Competition laws and regulations aim to achieve free and fair 
competition and prohibits companies from actions restricting 
competition, including abuse of a dominant position. Saferoad 
supports the principles stipulated by the TFEU 4) and the EEA 5) 
Agreement, and aims to comply fully with national and inter-
national competition law. The respective managing directors 
are responsible for each subsidiary’s adherence to Saferoad’s 
competition compliance policy, and to relevant legislation.

Data protection 
Data protection laws regulate the collection and processing 
of personal data. Saferoad has developed a comprehensive 
manual to ensure that personal data collected by the company 
are handled correctly and kept safe, in line with relevant national 
and international legislation. The Risk Management function 
is responsible for overseeing Saferoad’s data protection, and 
conducts objective, comprehensive audits on a regular basis, 
as part of the Corporate Compliance Program.

Trade sanctions
Trade sanctions and embargoes restrict dealings with specific 
individuals, entities, and governments, and are usually related 
to foreign affairs, national security, or human rights objec-
tives. Saferoad aims to comply with trade sanction laws and 
regulations published by the United Nations, the USA, and 
the European Union. The company has developed a Trade 
Sanctions Manual, containing specific instructions and action 
points, as well as updated lists of countries that could present 
issues, and recommendations with regards to risk-based due 
diligence. The Risk Management function is responsible for 
Saferoad’s day-to-day compliance with relevant trade sanctions 
and with the company’s Trade Sanctions Manual.

Health and safety
Saferoad promotes the health and wellbeing of its employees, 
and in 2016, the company set long-term targets for health and 
safety improvements to be achieved by 2020. The goal is to 
reduce the number of job-related injuries with absence to less 
than five accidents per one million work hours (the H1-rate). 
Some of the Group’s companies are already well below this 
target, but some are far above the target. 

The lost-time injuries were 85 for the year 2016 compared to 71 in 
2015. The H1-rate 6) for 2016 was 17, up from 16 the year before. 

The Group works actively to reduce the sick absence rate and 
has established routines to closely follow-up of employees on 
sick leave to facilitate their prompt return to work. The sick 
absence rate was 4.7 per cent in 2016, down from 4.8 per cent 
the previous year 

Group management sees health and safety as an integral part 
of the Saferoad brand, the core values and the long-term strat-
egy. During 2016, the increased focus on health and safety has 
resulted in a new safety program, based on the top performers’ 
best practice, being implemented throughout the organisation. 
As part of this program, new policies and procedures are estab-
lished as an effort to improve the health and safety standard 
across the Group. The progress of this program is being closely 
monitored by the Board of Directors. 

Diversity
Saferoad’s ambition is to ensure that all employees have equal 
opportunities for personal and professional development. 
Discrimination based on gender, age, disabilities, ethnic origin, 
sexual orientation or religion is not tolerated. 

At year end 2016, there were no women in the Group manage-
ment. In all, 85 per cent of the total employees were men and 
15 per cent women. The Board of Directors has nine members, 
of whom four women.

Reporting on issues regarding discrimination and inequality can 
be done directly to the Risk Management function in the Group. 
In addition, there are different working environment committees 
in business units with more than 50 employees. 

No special measures relating to equality and discrimination were 
necessary in 2016.

Labour relations
The knowledge, competence and capacity of our employees 
make them our most important asset. Therefore, Saferoad 
takes its employees’ interests seriously and respect the rights of 
the individual. Saferoad respects the UN Declaration of Human 
Rights and International Labour Organization (ILO) standards.

Employees are entitled to be represented on the Company’s 
governing bodies. Employee representatives are elected by and 
from among the employees.

The cooperation between the Company’s management and 
the employees’ trade unions is systematic and good, and 
it is based on a well-established structure, where various 
committees meet regularly. Rules have been adopted for what 
processes and decisions employee representatives shall be 
involved in. Employee representatives are paid by the Company.

In 2016, three of the members of the Board were elected 
employee representatives.

Environmental impact
Saferoad’s policy is to contribute to a sustainable environment 
to the best of its ability.

Saferoad’s ambition is to comply with all relevant environmental 
legislation and regulations in the countries Saferoad operates. 
Saferoad strives to make the production and products as 
environmentally friendly as possible, and to handle, transport 
and sort hazardous goods and waste in a secure manner. The 
company shall as far as possible choose sustainable products 
and resources and shall prefer suppliers and sub-contractors 
with environmentally friendly production and products. This 
is the same conduct Saferoad expects and requires from all 
suppliers.

A number of business units in Saferoad have activities that 
require environmental permits. The activities are strictly moni-
tored and reported to the relevant public authorities. 

Saferoad was compliant with applicable legal requirements and 
environmental regulations in 2016. 

4) Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union 

5) Agreement on the European Economic Areas

6) Number of accidents per one million work hours in relation to available work hours
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Saferoad considers good corporate governance a prerequisite for value  
creation and trust, as well as for access to capital. The corporate governance 
policy is built on Saferoad’s corporate values, and is designed to establish the 
basis for a management model that supports the achievement of the Group's 
core objectives.

To ensure strong and sustainable corporate governance, 
Saferoad must maintain good and healthy business practices, 
reliable financial reporting, and an environment where it oper-
ates in compliance with laws and regulations.

Corporate governance implementation and reporting 
Corporate values, code of conduct, and corporate 
responsibility
Saferoad’s core values; respect, care, drive, and integrity; 
express the Group’s shared expectations to its employees’ 
beliefs and conduct. The core values shape the character of 
the organisation, guide decisions and actions, and provide a 
framework for Saferoad’s interaction and communication with 
customers and stakeholders. 

Saferoad’s Code of Conduct is based on its corporate values. 
To foster an environment of compliance with legislation and 
regulations across the Group, the Board adopted corporate 
compliance policies systematically in the period 2008–2015 
with regards to competition, anti-bribery and money laundering, 
data protection, trade sanctions, and whistleblowing. In 2016, 
these individual policies were collected in a corporate compli-
ance programme, which also includes targeted training and 
encrypted reporting tool from an independent external provider 
and appropriate routines for handling of information. Priorities 
are based on an assessment of the requirements of the 
business, as well as of its stakeholders. The programme, which 
is regarded an integral part of day-to-day operations,  
was adopted by the Board in December.

The Code of Conduct and related policies set the standard for 
which behaviour is expected internally among colleagues, and 
externally towards partners and suppliers, customers and other 
stakeholders. The common approach and integrity of conduct are 
considered vital to inspire trust, loyalty, and responsible behaviour 
in the company, and to prevent any legal violations, or other nega-
tive financial, legal, or reputational consequences for Saferoad. 

The Code of Conduct and related policies apply to all Saferoad 
employees and representatives, including employees in 
subsidiaries, contracted consultants, and board members and 
all employees are expected to make a personal commitment 
to comply. Employees are requested to report any concerns 
and complaints through the chain of command, directly to one 
of the three members of company’s compliance team, or via 
the external whistleblowing channel. Violation of the Code of 

Conduct will be subject to disciplinary proceedings, including 
possible dismissal, as well as potential criminal prosecution.

Saferoad endeavours to make its Code of Conduct known to its 
customers, suppliers, competitors and partners. The company’s 
Code of Conduct, CSR Guidelines and Compliance Programme 
are available from the website www.saferoad.com, and its 
corporate social responsibility work is described in detail on 
pages 16 to 17 in the 2016 annual report. 

Business
Saferoad is a leading supplier of road safety and road infrastruc-
ture solutions in Northern, Central and Eastern Europe, with its 
head office in Oslo, Norway. The Group’s around 2 700 employ-
ees strive to improve infrastructure and road safety standards, 
by delivering products characterised by high functionality, 
durability and design.

The company’s business purpose, as stated in its Articles of 
Association, §3, is as follows: 

“The purpose of the company is production and trading, as well 
as participation in other undertakings. It may acquire property 
and provide credit facilities to companies within the Group”.

The company’s business operations and main strategies are 
further discussed on pages 8 to 10 in the 2016 annual report.

Board of Directors: composition and independence
Composition of the Board
The Articles of Association, § 5, stipulate that Saferoad’s Board 
of Directors shall comprise minimum six and maximum 12 
board directors. The Board of Directors comprises 9 members, 
of whom four women, thereby complying with the Norwegian 
Companies Act’s requirements to gender diversity on corporate 
boards. 

The board members are elected for a period of two years and 
may be re-elected.

As of 2016, the Board of Directors had a broad composition, 
and represented the necessary experience, qualifications, and 
capacity to safeguard the owners’ common interests. 

Statement on corporate governance 
Saferoad Group
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The work of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors’ responsibilities and tasks
The overall management of the company is vested with the 
Board of Directors and management. In accordance with 
Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for, i.a., 
supervising the general and day-to-day management of the 
company’s business, ensuring proper organisation, preparing 
plans and financial targets for its activities, ensuring that the 
company’s activities, accounts and asset management are 
subject to adequate control, and for undertaking investigations 
necessary to perform its duties. Furthermore, the Board of 
Directors determines the Group’s overall objectives and strat-
egy, in addition to hiring the CEO, and determining the terms 
and conditions of the CEO’s employment. 

Instructions for the Board of Directors
The current set of instructions were approved by the Board 
of Directors on 16 December 2016. The instructions cover 
the following items; Strategy, Operations and financials; 
Organisation and employees; Information and communication; 
Annual General Meeting; Corporate governance; Financial 
reporting; Annual accounts and report; The Board of Directors’ 
competency; Planning the work of the Board of Directors; 
Notifications of board meetings; Administrative procedures; 
Notes from board meetings; Board of Directors’ appointed 
committees; Transactions between the company and related 
parties; Confidentiality and health, safety and environment. 

Instructions for the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
The instructions for the CEO are reviewed annually by the 
Board of Directors. The current instructions were approved 
by the Board of Directors on 16 December 2016. The CEO is 
responsible for the day-to-day management of the company’s 
operations, including ensuring that the company adheres to 
and strives to reach the strategic targets set by the Board of 
Directors. The CEO is also responsible for keeping the compa-
ny’s accounts in accordance with current Norwegian legislation 
and regulations, and for managing the company’s assets 
responsibly. The CEO is furthermore responsible for briefing the 
Board of Directors about the company’s activities, financial posi-
tion, and operating results at least quarterly, or more frequently, 
if circumstances so suggest.

Financial reporting
The Board of Directors receives reports and comments pre-
pared by the CEO on the status of the Group’s operations and 
finances minimum on a quarterly basis. The Board of Directors 
are also kept continuously informed about any material legal 
disputes, contract terminations, changes in management, or 
material conflicts related to clients, suppliers, and employees. 
The financial reports form the basis for the Board of Directors’ 
ability to have an informed opinion about the company’s results, 
solidity and financial position. 

The work of the Board of Directors of Saferoad 
The Board of Directors meets at least five times per year. In 
2016, the board held six meetings. The overall attendance rate 
at board meetings was 92 per cent. 

Use of board committees
Two board subcommittees were operative during 2016; an 
audit committee, and a remuneration committee, which both 
prepared items for the Board’s consideration. The board 
subcommittees are responsible to the Board of Directors as a 
whole. The subcommittees report and make recommendations 
to the Board of Directors, which retains its authority and respon-
sibility for implementing such recommendations.  

Audit committee
The primary purpose of the audit committee is to act as a 
preparatory and advisory committee for the Board of Directors 
in questions concerning accounting, audit, finance, risk man-
agement, internal control and corporate compliance. 

The audit committee comprised two board members, and 
held four meetings in 2016, with an attendance rate of 100 per 
cent. The audit committee had the following members as at 31 
December 2016: 

 · Annicka Poutiainen (chair) 
 · Olof Faxander replaced John Hedberg in December 2016 

Remuneration committee
The purpose of the committee is to act in an advisory capacity 
to the Board in matters to review the remuneration and benefit 
programs applied throughout the Group. The “Grandfather” 
principle shall apply on all levels. The remuneration committee 
comprised two board members, and held two meetings in 
2016, with an attendance rate of 100 per cent. The remunera-
tion committee had the following members as at 31 December 
2016: 

 · Tor Håkan Söderström (chair) 
 · Johan Ek

Risk management and internal control
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that the 
company’s risk management and internal control systems are 
adequate to ensure compliance with the regulations and legal 
frameworks governing the business. The Board of Directors 
reviews the company’s main risk areas and internal control 
systems on an annual basis, including Saferoad's values, Code 
of Conduct, and corporate responsibility. The audit committee 
meets with the auditor at least once annually, to review the 
company’s internal control routines, including identified weak-
nesses and areas for improvement. 
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To provide a true and fair view of the Company's and Group's 
assets, liabilities, financial position, and results from operations, 
Saferoad Group prepares its consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

In 2016, the Board of Directors received reports on the Group’s 
business and financial results on at least a monthly basis. The 
reports provided a good overview of the company’s strategic and 
operational performance, as well as plans for the upcoming period. 

As a European supplier of safety products and solutions, 
Saferoad is exposed to a range of financial and operational 
risks, which may adversely affect the company’s business. 
Further information regarding risk management is disclosed in 
the Board of Directors’ report page 14.

With their knowledge, competence, and capacity, Saferoad’s 
employees are the company’s most important asset in its 
mission to make life on the road safer. The Board of Directors 
monitors the employees’ work attendance, and strives to 
promote the health and wellbeing of its employees. A consider-
able part of the company’s activities place employees alongside 
roads and on production sites, and the number of job-related 
injuries is therefore monitored closely. Further information about 
the company’s corporate and social responsibility work is 
disclosed on in the Corporate and Social Responsibility report.

Auditor (statutory auditor)
EY is appointed as the Group’s statutory auditor. The Board of 
Directors has received written confirmation from the auditor, 
which confirms that requirements with respect to independence 
and objectivity have been met. 

On an annual basis, the statutory auditor presents a plan for 
his main auditing activities, including focus areas and audit 
scope for the coming year, to the Board of Directors and the audit 
committee. The presentation includes identification of weaknesses, 
and proposals for improvements. The auditor also participates 
in the board meeting where the company’s annual accounts are 
attended to, to highlight any material changes to accounting princi-
ples, and to comment on any material estimations or topics where 
there is a significant difference of opinion between the auditor and 
management. 
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APMs are used by Saferoad for annual and periodic financial 
reporting to provide a better understanding of the company's 
underlying financial performance for the period. Underlying 
Revenue, Underlying EBITDA and Underlying EBITA is also 
used by management to drive performance in terms of target 
setting. These measures are adjusted IFRS measures defined, 
calculated and used in a consistent and transparent manner 
over time and across the Group, where relevant. 

Operational measures such as volumes, prices and currency 
effects are not defined as APMs. Saferoad focuses on 
Underlying EBITDA and Underlying EBITA in the discussions of 
periodic operating results for the segments and for the Group.

Items excluded from Underlying EBITDA and EBITA - Saferoad Group

NOK million 2016 2015

   

(Gains)/losses on divestments 26

Transaction cost 22 25

Restructuring charges and closure costs 8 46

Other effects 38

Items excluded from Underlying EBITDA 31 135

Other effects  1

Unallocated depreciation 15 16

Impairment charges 11 31

Items excluded from Underlying EBITA 57 183

Road Safety 9 40

Nordic 4 34

Europe 5 7

Other

Road Infrastructure 43

Nordic 5

Europe 31

Other 7

Holding, other 49 100

Items excluded from Underlying EBITA 57 183

Underlying EBITA 337 276

Items excluded from Underlying EBITA (57) (183)

EBITA reported 280 93

Amortisation and impairment (390) (107)

Operating profit/(loss) reported (110) (15)

 · (Gains) losses on divestments in 2015 relates to the sale of  
Gävle Galvan AB. 

 · Transaction cost relate to preparations of the Group for a potential 
change of ownership. 2015 amount also include acquisition cost of FLA 
Geoprodukter AB and Nordic Culvert AB. 

 · Restructuring charges and closure costs relate to redundancy and other 
restructuring cost. In 2015 the amount related to redundancy and restruc-
turing of the Russian business in Road Infrastructure and redundancy in 
relation to the sale of Gävle Galvan AB. 

 · Depreciation of excess values is related to acquisitions. 

 · Impairment charges relate to significant write-downs of assets or Groups 
of assets to estimated recoverable amounts in the event of an identified 
loss in value. Gains from reversal of impairment charges are simultaneously 
excluded from underlying results. 

 · Other effects In 2015 relate to legal cost in relation to the anti-trust case in 
Denmark, adjustment of sold businesses (Gävle Galvan AB and the assets 
of Marina Systeme GmbH) and legal cost in Russia and Germany and 
inventory write-down in Poland.

Alternative performance measures 
(APMs)
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Financial statements 

NOK 1000 Notes 2016 2015

Revenue 5 731 659 5 495 684

Other operating revenue 32 219 27 619

Total operating revenue 6 5 763 878 5 523 303

Cost of goods sold 8 3 337 360 3 218 885

Personnel costs 10,11 1 191 581 1 168 412

Depreciation and impairment 14 167 176 185 742

Amortisation and impairment 15 390 332 107 422

Other operating costs 9 787 692 857 456

Total operating costs 5 874 141 5 537 917

Operating profit/(loss) (110 263) (14 614)

Financial income 12 23 935 23 452

Financial expenses 12 256 491 293 875

Net exchange rate gain (loss) 12 (97 370) 60 916

Share of profit/(loss) of associated companies 5 0 5 598

Net financial income/expenses (329 926) (203 909)

Profit/(loss) before tax (440 189) (218 523)

Tax 13 940 (45 158)

Profit /(loss) for the year (439 249) (263 681)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items to be reclassified to profit/loss in subsequent periods

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations 13 34 176 (16 222)

Items not to be reclassified to profit/loss in subsequent periods

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 11, 13 (3 838) 1 664

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 30 338 (14 558)

Total comprehensive income for the year (408 911) (278 239)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company (459 992) (290 977)

Non-controlling interests 20 743 27 296

(439 249) (263 681)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent company (417 830) (322 530)

Non-controlling interests 8 920 44 291

(408 911) (278 239)

Average number of shares 1 000 000 1 000 000

EPS (Earnings per share) in NOK (basic and diluted) (460) (291)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (1.1 - 31.12)
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
(assets)

NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.16 31.12.15

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets

Development 15 45 401 68 033

Licenses, product rights etc 15 24 877 37 597

Goodwill 15 1 222 218 1 511 184

Customer relationships 15 221 400 341 810

Other intangibles 15 10 104 9 613

Total intangible assets 1 524 000 1 968 237

Tangible assets

Land 14 33 047 31 631

Buildings 14 356 759 390 971

Machines and equipment 14 354 167 361 660

Construction in progress 14 5 202 3 602

Rental equipment, furniture and vehicles 14 185 083 199 890

Total fixed assets 934 258 987 754

Financial non-current assets

Shares in associated companies 5 4 960 4 969

Loans to associated companies 29 127 0

Other investments 5, 19 12 326 12 986

Non-current receivables 30 603 24 334

Total financial assets 48 016 42 290

Deferred tax assets 13 8 984 14 982

Total non-current assets 2 515 258 3 013 262

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 8 909 895 853 983

Receivables

Trade receivables 18 843 576 852 292

Other receivables 7, 21 219 804 287 780

Total receivables 1 063 380 1 140 072

Cash and cash equivalents 22 328 977 507 655

Total current assets 2 302 253 2 501 711

Total assets 4 817 511 5 514 973
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
(shareholders’ equity and liabilities)

NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.16 31.12.15

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 25 2 000 167

Share premium 25 1 159 875 2 061 961

Other paid in capital 351 596 351 596

Currency translation reserve (171 550) (217 550)

Other equity (371 729) (1 420 026)

Total shareholders' equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company 970 192 776 148

Non-controlling interests 25 251 726 259 606

Total equity 1 221 918 1 035 753

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 18, 19, 23, 27 1 824 152 1 979 156

Other non-current liabilities 18, 19, 23, 27 83 266 865 467

Pension obligations 11 38 327 37 821

Deferred tax liabilities 13 42 898 95 560

Other provisions 16 17 794 28 019

Total non-current liabilities 2 006 436 3 006 023

Current liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 23, 27 425 562 438 521

Accounts payables 18 495 968 479 498

Current tax liabilities 13 9 945 46 459

Public duties (VAT, soc. benefits etc) 68 471 102 601

Other current liabilities 7, 24 525 962 327 678

Other provisions 16 1 673 10 122

Financial derivatives 19, 2 0 13 884

Current portion of non-current liabilities 23, 27 61 576 54 433

Total current liabilities 1 589 156 1 473 197

Total liabilities 3 595 592 4 479 220

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 4 817 511 5 514 973

Oslo, 10 March 2017 

Bård Martin Mikkelsen
Board member

Liisa Annika Poutiainen 
Board member

Synnøve Lyssand Sandberg
Board member

Gry Hege Sølsnes
Board member

Morten Holum
CEO

Carl Johan Henrik Ek
Chairman of the Board

Olof Bertil Faxander
Board member

Jan Torgeir Hovden
Board member

Knut Brevik 
Board member

Britt Sandvik
Board member
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

NOK 1000
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Other paid 
in capital 1)

Currency 
translation 

reserve Other equity Total

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity

Note 25 Note 25 Note 25

Equity at 31.12.2014 167 2 061 961 351 596 (184 333) (1 065 069) 1 164 322 219 395 1 383 717

Non controlling interests companies acquired 0 2 578 2 578

Dividends to non controlling interests 0 (17 704) (17 704)

Disposals and buy-out non-controlling interests (65 644) (65 644) 11 046 (54 598)

Profit/(loss) for the year (290 977) (290 977) 27 296 (263 682)

Other comprehensive income net of tax:

Actuarial gain/(loss) 1 664 1 664 1 664

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (33 217) (33 217) 16 995 (16 222)

Total other comprehensive income net of tax 0 0 0 (33 217) 1 664 (31 553) 16 995 (14 558)

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 (33 217) (289 313) (322 530) 44 291 (278 239)

Equity at 31.12.2015 167 2 061 961 351 596 (217 550) (1 420 026) 776 148 259 606 1 035 753

Reclassification due to new parent company (167) (2 061 961) 1 512 128 (550 000) (550 000)

Capital contribution 12 December 2016 1 000 549 000 550 000 550 000

Capital contribution 21 December 2016 1 000 610 875 611 875 611 875

Dividends to non controlling interests 0 (16 799) (16 799)

Profit/(loss) for the period (459 992) (459 992) 20 743 (439 249)

Other comprehensive income net of tax:

Actuarial gain/(loss) (3 838) (3 838) (3 838)

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations 46 000 46 000 (11 824) 34 176

Total other comprehensive income net of tax 0 0 0 46 000 (3 838) 42 162 (11 824) 30 338

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 0 46 000 (463 830) (417 830) 8 920 (408 911)

Equity at 31.12.2016 2 000 1 159 875 351 596 (171 550) (371 729) 970 192 251 726 1 221 918

1) Shareholder contribution from 2008.

The legal structure of the Group was changed in 2016. A new 
company, Cidron Triangle AS, was established to serve as the 
parent company of the Group subsequent to the restructuring. 
Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. acquired shares in Saferoad Holding AB 
from minority shareholders in Saferoad Holding AB, resulting 
in Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. holding 100 per cent of the shares 
in Saferoad Holding AB. Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. contributed 
all its shares in Saferoad Holding AB to Cidron Triangle AS 12 
December 2016 in exchange for newly issued shares in Cidron 
Triangle AS. As a result Cidron Triangle AS is the new parent 
company of the Group from this date.

Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. contributed shareholder loans which 
Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. had against Saferoad Holding AB to the 
Company in exchange for the Company increasing the nominal 
value of the shares held by Cidron Triangle S.à r.l.

Shareholder loans of NOK 612 million were converted to equity 
in 2016. 
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Consolidated cash flow statement (1.1 - 31.12)

NOK 1000 Notes 2016 2015

Cash flow from operations

Profit/loss before tax (440 189) (218 524)

Income tax paid 13 (68 640) (44 698)

Profit from sale and disposal of tangible assets (5 211) (7 980)

Loss on sale of tangible assets 238 1 553

Loss on sale of subsidiaries 0 26 013

Net depreciation, amortisations and impairment 14, 15 557 508 293 163

Impairment of other assets 8 3 340 33 245

Change in fair value of financial assets 12 (13 024) (10 477)

Unrealised currency (gains)/losses 93 934 (128 815)

Interest income 12 (7 124) (11 123)

Interest costs and other financial expenses 12 253 433 194 671

Changes in inventory 8 (118 466) (3 873)

Changes in trade receivable 19 (47 484) (73 613)

Changes in accounts payable 19 50 352 35 131

Income from using equity method 0 (5 598)

Changes in other current receivables and liabilities (15 298) 137 903

Net cash flow from operations 243 369 216 979

Cash flow from investment activities

Interest received 12 7 124 11 123

Acquisition of subsidiaries 4 (22 649) (64 965)

Purchase/production of fixed and intangible assets 14, 15 (172 230) (165 080)

Sale of subsidiaries 0 (11 626)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 13 376 16 472

Other changes 12 619 (1 475)

Net cash flow from investment activities (161 759) (215 551)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 22 259 310 752

Repayment of borrowings (137 052) (106 199)

Proceeds from other shareholders 0 2 352

Dividends to non-controlling interests (16 799) (16 155)

Interest paid (157 528) (171 149)

Net cash flow from financing activities (289 120) 19 602

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (207 510) 21 030

Effect of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents (34 428) 53 556

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 507 655 433 069

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 265 717 507 655

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year in statement of financial position 22 328 977 507 655

Bank overdrafts at the end of the year in statement of financial position (63 260) 0

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year in statement of cash flow 265 717 507 655
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Note 1 Company information

Cidron Triangle AS is a Norwegian limited liability company 
and the parent company of the Saferoad Group (the Group). 
The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Oslo with its 
registered office, Enebakkveien 150, 0680 Oslo, Norway.

The Group conducts its business through subsidiaries in the 
Nordic countries, Germany, Poland, the Baltic countries and 
other European countries. See Note 4 in Cidron Triangle AS 
financial statement for a list of companies that belong to the 
Group. For additional information regarding the Group, please 
visit www.Saferoad.com.

The legal structure of the Group was changed in 2016. A new 
company, Cidron Triangle AS, was established to serve as the 
parent company of the Group subsequent to the restructuring. 
Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. acquired shares in Saferoad Holding AB 
from minority shareholders in Saferoad Holding AB, resulting 
in Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. holding 100 per cent of the shares 
in Saferoad Holding AB. Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. contributed 
all its shares in Saferoad Holding AB to Cidron Triangle AS 12 

December 2016 in exchange for newly issued shares in Cidron 
Triangle AS. As a result Cidron Triangle AS is the new parent 
company of the Group from this date. 

The Company has applied predecessor accounting to the 
restructuring and has accounted for the business combination 
under the pooling of interest method. The Company’s consol-
idated financial statements are presented as if the Group, with 
Cidron Triangle AS as the holding company, had always existed. 
As a consequence, the comparative financial information pre-
sented in this report is the historical financial information of the 
Saferoad Group. The new Group, has changed its presentation 
currency from SEK to NOK. The change has been implemented 
retrospectively in accordance with principles in IAS 21 "The 
effects of changes in foreign exchange rates". 

These consolidated annual accounts have been approved for 
publication by the Board of Directors on 10 March 2017 and  
are to be adopted at the Annual General Meeting.

Note 2 Accounting principles

Basis for preparation and statement of compliance
The consolidated annual accounts for the Saferoad Group 
have been prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as the Interpretations 
of the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee 
(IFRIC), which have been approved by the European Commission 
for application within the European Union. In addition, the Group 
applies additional information requirements in accordance with 
the Norwegian Accounting Act of 1998.

The consolidated statements have been prepared on a histor-
ical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments and 
available-for-sale financial assets that have been measured at 
fair value. The financial statements have been prepared based 
on the going concern principle. 

The parent company, Cidron Triangle AS applies the Norwegian 
Accounting Act of 1998 and Norwegian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (NGAAP), see note 2 to the financial 
statements for Cidron Triangle AS.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of 
the previous financial year. The impact of new and amended 
standards implemented in 2016 did not have any material 
impact on the Group’s financial statements. For effects related 
to future IFRS amendments reference is made to note 31.

Consolidation principles and business combinations
The consolidated financial statements include Cidron Triangle 
AS and all companies in which Cidron Triangle AS controls more 
than 50 per cent of the number of votes, or otherwise has a 
controlling interest. Non-controlling interests, which consist of the 
share of the profits/losses and the part of the net assets of Group 
companies that do not belong to the shareholders of the parent 
company, are reported as a separate item in the consolidated 
shareholders’ equity. The statement of comprehensive income 
includes the non-controlling share of the reported profit or loss. 

Transactions between Group companies, balance sheet 
items and unrealised profits on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated, unless the transaction shows a need to write down 
the transferred asset.

The acquisition method is applied when accounting for business 
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of 
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s net assets. 
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Any put option granted to non-controlling interests gives rise 
to a financial liability for the present value of the redemption 
amount. The financial liability is recognised by reclassifying 
the present value of the amount payable upon exercise of the 
option from other equity to financial liability. The financial liability 
is subsequently re-measured at the end of each reporting 
period in accordance with IAS 39. 

If the terms of the transaction provide the parent with a present 
ownership interest in the shares subject to the put, the shares 
are accounted for as acquired and no non-controlling interest 
remains. 

 Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Companies 
which have been acquired or sold during the year are included 
in the consolidated financial statement as from the date when 
control is achieved and until the date when control ceases. 

 Goodwill is determined as the difference between the cost of 
an acquisition and the fair value of net identifiable assets on 
the acquisition date. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating 
units or Groups of cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from synergies from the business combination and is 
recognised at cost in the balance sheet, less any accumulated 
impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for 
impairment at least annually.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling 
interest even if that results in a deficit balance. The Group treats 
transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with 
equity owners of the Group. For purchases from non-controlling 
interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals 
without loss of control to non-controlling interests are also 
recorded in equity.

Investment in associated companies
The Group’s holdings in associated companies are initially 
recorded at cost and subsequently reported in accordance 
with the equity method. Associated companies are companies 
in which the Group has significant influence. Investments in 
associated companies are reported on the balance sheet at 
their acquisition value, with the addition of any changes in the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the associated company. 
The profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the profit or loss 
of the associated companies. The investments in associated 
companies are subject to impairment assessments and impair-
ment testing if impairment indicators exist. The investments 
are written down to recoverable amount if this is lower than its 
carrying value. Additional losses after the interest is reduced to 
zero is only provided for to the extent that the Group has a legal 
or constructive obligation to cover the incurred losses. 

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between 
the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the 
interest in the associate. Upon loss of significant influence over 
the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and 
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currency 
The Group’s presentation currency is NOK, which is also the 
presentation and functional currency of the parent company.

Transactions in currencies different from  
the functional currency
Transactions in non-functional currencies are translated at the 
rate in effect on the transaction date. Monetary assets and 
liabilities that are expressed in non-functional currencies are 
reported on the balance sheet date, translated to the rate in 
effect on that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that 
are reported at their fair value in non-functional currency are 
translated at the rate in effect on the balance sheet date. All 
other non-monetary items are translated at historical foreign 
exchange rates. All exchange rate differences are reported in 
profit or loss. 

Currency effects in the consolidation
The statement of financial position of subsidiaries with a differ-
ent functional currency, including goodwill and adjustments for 
fair value made in connection with consolidation, is translated at 
the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period, while the 
profit or loss is translated at an average of the year’s exchange 
rates. The exchange rate differences that arise as a result of the 
translation are reported directly in other comprehensive income. 
In the event of a sale or other disposal of a foreign company, 
the accrued accumulated translation difference is recognised 
in profit or loss together with the gain or loss resulting from the 
sale or disposal. 

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that transactions will 
generate future economic benefits that will flow to the company 
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Revenues are 
presented net of value added tax and discounts.

The Group generates revenues from the sale of goods related 
to road safety and road infrastructure. Such revenues are 
recognised in the profit or loss once delivery has taken place 
and significant risk and rewards has been transferred to the 
customer.

The Group also has revenues from services related to road 
safety and road infrastructure. Further, the Group has reve-
nues from long-term projects (Construction contracts). Such 
revenues are recognised in the profit or loss in accordance with 
the percentage of completion method.

The percentage of completion is determined either as the 
proportion of the incurred contracts costs to the estimated total 
contract costs (“cost to cost”) or as the physical proportion 
of the contract work to the estimated total physical contract 
work. Contract revenue includes the amount agreed in the initial 
contract, plus revenue from alterations according to variation 
orders. Additional claims and disputed amounts are normally 
not recognised in income until agreement has been reached or 
a legally binding court ruling has been given. When the outcome 
of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably, only revenues 
equal to the project costs that have incurred will be recognised 
as revenue. The total estimated loss on a contract is recognised 
in the profit or loss during the period when it is identified that 
a project will generate a loss. The revenue recognised in one 
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period is the revenue attributable to the period’s progress and 
the progress to date effect of any changes to the estimated 
final outcome. Contract costs include costs that relate directly 
to the specific contract and allocated costs that are attributable 
to general contract activity. Costs that cannot be attributed to 
contract activity are expensed.

Work in progress for construction projects represents the value 
of work performed less payments by customers. To the extent 
payments exceed this value the amounts are reported as 
advances from customers.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All 
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Income tax
The tax expense consists of the tax payable and changes in 
deferred tax. Taxes payable are recognised on taxable profits at 
the current tax rate. Deferred tax/tax assets are calculated on all 
differences between the carrying value and tax value of assets 
and liabilities, with the exception of:

 ·  Temporary differences linked to goodwill that are not tax 
deductible

 · Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries 
or associates where the timing of reversal of temporary dif-
ferences can be controlled and it is probable that temporary 
differences will not reverse. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that the 
company will have a sufficient profit for tax purposes in subse-
quent periods to utilise the tax asset. The companies recognise 
previously unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent it has 
become probable that the company can utilise the deferred tax 
asset. Similarly, the company will reduce a deferred tax asset to 
the extent that the company no longer regards it as probable 
that it can utilise the deferred tax asset. 

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are measured on 
the basis of the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates on the 
balance sheet date applicable to the companies in the Group 
where temporary differences have arisen. Deferred tax liabilities 
and deferred tax assets are recognised at their nominal value. 

Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income to the extent that they relate to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at their cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

Acquisition costs include costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs, such as regular 
maintenance costs, are recognised in the profit or loss, while 
other costs that are expected to provide future financial benefits 

are capitalised. The assets are depreciated on a linear basis 
over the estimated useful life of the asset. Useful life, deprecia-
tion methods and the residual value are reviewed annually.

Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use. 

When assets are sold or disposed of, the carrying amount is 
derecognised and any gain or loss is recognised in the profit  
or loss.

Leasing
The Group as a lessee:

Financial leasing
Leases, which for all intents and purposes, transfer all the risks 
and advantages with respect to the leased asset associated 
with ownership, are classified as financial leases. At the 
inception of the lease, finance leases are recognised at the 
lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the 
liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obliga-
tions, net of finance charges, are included in other non-current 
liabilites. First year’s payment is classified as current liabilities. 
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the profit 
or loss over the lease period to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each 
period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under 
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of 
the asset and the lease term.

Operating leasing
Leases which are not finance leases are classified as operating 
leases. Lease payments are classified as operating costs and 
recognised in the profit or loss in a straight line during the 
contract period.

The Group as a lessor:
Assets that the Group uses in operational leasing as a lessor 
are presented in the statement of financial position according 
to the nature of the asset. Lease income from operating leases 
is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term, unless another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased 
asset is diminished. Costs, including depreciation, incurred 
in earning the lease income are recognised as an expense. 
Material initial direct costs incurred by lessors in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease is added to the carrying amount of 
the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as the lease income. The depreciation 
policy for depreciable leased assets are consistent with the 
Group`s normal depreciation policy for similar assets.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets that have been acquired separately are carried 
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination is the fair value at the acquisition date. Capitalised 
intangible assets that are amortised are recognised at cost less 
any amortisation and impairment losses.

The economic life is either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets 
with a finite economic life are amortised on a linear basis and 
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tested for impairment. The amortisation period are assessed 
annually. Changes to the amortisation period are accounted for 
as a change in estimate.

Intangible assets with an indefinite economic life are tested for 
impairment at least once a year, either individually or as a part 
of a cash-generating unit. Intangible assets with an indefinite 
economic life are not amortised. The economic life is assessed 
annually with regard to whether the assumption of an indefinite 
economic life can be justified. If it cannot, the change to a finite 
economic life is made prospectively.

Patents and licenses
Expenditures for patents and licenses are capitalised and 
depreciated over their expected useful life. The expected useful 
life for patents and licenses varies between five and ten years. 

Software
Expenses linked to the purchase of new computer software 
are capitalised as an intangible asset provided these expenses 
do not form part of the hardware acquisition costs. Software is 
normally depreciated on a straight line basis over 3 years. Costs 
incurred as a result of maintaining or upholding the future utility 
of software is expensed unless the changes in the software 
increase the future economic benefits from the software. 

Product rights
Expenditures for rights are capitalised and depreciated over 
their expected useful life. The expected useful life for product 
rights varies between five and ten years.

Contractual customer relationships
Contractual customer relationships purchased, or acquired 
in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. 

The contractual customer relations have a finite useful life and 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation 
is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected 
life of the customer relationship. The expected useful life varies 
between two and three years. 

Non-contractual customer relationships
Non-contractual customer relationships acquired in a business 
combination are recognised at fair value separately from 
goodwill at the acquisition date, if they are capable of being 
separated or divided from the entity and sold, transferred, 
licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together 
with a related contract, identifiable asset or liability.

Non-contractual customer relations have a finite useful life 
and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Non 
contractual customer relationships are depreciated over their 
expected useful life. The expected useful life varies between five 
and fifteen years. 

Research and development
Expenses relating to research activities are recognised in profit 
or loss as they incur. Development costs that are attributable 
to an individual project are reported as an asset on the balance 
sheet when the Group can demonstrate the following:

 · the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so 
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete 
the intangible asset and use or sell it

 · how the intangible asset will generate probable future 
economic benefits

 · the availability of resources to complete the asset;
 · its ability to measure reliably the expenditure during its 

development 

Capitalised development cost is amortised over its expected 
useful life and tested for impairment annually. The expected 
useful life for research and development varies between three 
and fifteen years.

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill or 
intangible assets not ready to use, are not subject to amortisa-
tion and are tested annually for impairment or if any impairment 
indicators exists.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units). The recoverable amount of 
an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of fair value, less 
cost to sell, and value in use. Impairment is recognised when 
the carrying value exceeds the recoverable value of the asset 
or cash-generating unit. Previously recognised impairments are 
reversed if the conditions on which the recognised impairments 
are based are no longer applicable. Impairments are reversed 
to the extent that the capitalised amount after reversal does not 
exceed the capitalised amount net of depreciation that would 
have been the carrying amount if no impairment had been 
recognised. Impairments are not reversed for goodwill.

Financial instruments 
Classification of financial instruments
Financial instruments within the scope of IAS 39 are classified in 
the following categories: 

 · fair value with changes in value through profit or loss (FVPL)
 · loans and receivables
 · held to maturity investments (HTM)
 · financial instruments available for sale (AFS)
 · Other liabilities 

The classification is dependent on the type of instrument 
and the purpose for which the investments were acquired or 
originated.

Financial assets at FVPL are financial assets held for trading. A 
financial asset is classified as held for trading if acquired prin-
cipally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives 
are also categorised as held for trading as the Group does not 
apply hedge accounting.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable cash flows that are not quoted in an active 
market.
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Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities are classified as HTM when the 
Group has the positive intention and ability to hold until maturity.

All other financial assets, except for derivatives, are classified as 
AFS and would generally include equity and debt securities.

Other financial liabilities is generally the main category for loans 
and borrowings.

The Group has financial instruments in the following categories:

FVPL: Derivative instruments

AFS: Investments in shares

Loans and receivables: Loans to associated companies and 
long term receivables, trade receiva-
bles and other current receivables

Other financial liabilities: Includes most of the Group's financial 
liabilities including debt to credit insti-
tutions, accounts payable and other 
current and non-current liabilities.

Reference is also made to note 19 in the financial statements 
for more information.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
FVPL: Financial derivatives that are not designated as hedging 
instruments are categorised as held for trading and initially 
measured at their fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair 
value are recognised in the profit or loss. 

AFS financial investments are initially recognised at fair value. 
Subsequently measurement is at fair value with unrealised 
gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income 
until the investment is derecognised or impaired. When the 
investment is derecognised, the accumulated gain or loss on 
the financial instrument that has previously been recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reversed and the gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss. If the investment is determined 
to be impaired, the cumulative loss is reclassified from the 
AFS reserve to the statement of profit or loss in finance costs. 
Dividend from AFS investments are recognised in P&L.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus 
directly attributable transaction expenses. Subsequently, these 
instruments are measured at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method (EIR). Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net 
of directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently these 
liabilities are measured at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method (EIR). Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets valued at amortised cost are written down 
when there is objective evidence that the instrument’s cash 
flows have been negatively affected by one or more events 
occurring after the initial recognition of the instrument. The 
impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss. The loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset`s carrying value 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
with the instruments original effective interest rate. If, in a 
subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is increased or reduced. 

Financial assets that are classified as available for sale are writ-
ten down when there are objective indications of impairment. 
The accumulated loss that has been recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income (the difference between the cost and 
fair value minus impairment that has previously been recognised 
in profit or loss) is removed from other comprehensive income 
and recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment loss on equity 
instrument are not reversed through profit or loss, increases in 
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income. 

De-recognition of financial instruments
A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset have expired, or the Group has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (i) the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
relating to the instrument, or (ii) the Group has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards relating to the 
instrument, but has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, this is treated as derecognition of the 
original liability and recognition of a new liability. The difference 
in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income 
statement.

Inventory
Inventories are recognised at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. The cost is arrived at using the FIFO method 
and includes the costs incurred in acquiring the goods and the 
costs of bringing the goods to their current state and location. 
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises 
design costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs 
and related production overheads (based on normal operating 
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 

Accounts receivable
Trade receivables and other receivables are recognised net of 
expected losses. The accrual for losses is based on an individ-
ual assessment of each receivable. Reference is also made to 
section regarding financial instruments for principles regarding 
loans and receivables.
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Cash and other short-term investments
Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are 
short-term liquid investments that can be immediately con-
verted into a known amount of cash and have a maximum term 
to maturity of three months from the date of acquisition. 

Segment information
Segment information is presented in line with the Groups 
internal reporting to the chief operating decision makers (Group 
Management). The company operates within different operating 
segments as per the definitions in IFRS 8 Operating segments. 
Segments are: “Road Safety Nordic”, “Road Safety Europe”, 
“Road Infrastructure” and “Other/Holding”. Reference is made 
to note 6 for detailed segment information.

Remunerations to employees
Defined benefit pension plans
Defined benefit pension plans are recognised at the present 
value of the accrued future pension benefits at the end of the 
reporting period (balance sheet date), less the fair value of 
plan assets. Defined benefit obligations are presented net of 
plan assets in the balance sheet. Actuarial gains and losses 
are reported in other comprehensive income. The difference 
between actual return for plan asset and the amount included in 
net interest is reported in other comprehensive income.

Defined contribution plans
The pension contributions are charged to expenses as they are 
incurred.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has an obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
(more likely than not) that a financial settlement will take place 
as a result of this obligation and the size of the amount can 
be measured reliably. If the effect is material, the provision is 
calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects the market’s pricing of the 
time value of money and, if relevant, risks specifically linked to 
the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of 
time is recognised as interest expense.

A provision for a warranty is recognised when the underlying 
products or services are sold. The provision is based on 
historical information on guarantees and a weighting of possible 
outcomes according to the likelihood of their occurrence. 

Restructuring provisions are reported when the Group has 
approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and the 
restructuring has either started or been publicly announced. 

Provisions for loss-making contracts are recognised when the 
Group’s estimated revenues from a contract are less than the 
lowest possible cost of meeting the contractual obligations. 

Contingent liabilities and assets
Possible liabilities (obligations) that do not satisfy the three 
provision criterions are categorised as ‘contingent’ under IAS 37 
and are not recognised in the financial statements. Significant 
contingent liabilities are disclosed, with the exception of con-
tingent liabilities that are unlikely to be incurred. In a business 
combination a contingent liability has to be recognised in a 
business acquisition regardless of probability.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the annual accounts 
but are disclosed if it is probable that an economic benefit will 
be received.

Events after the balance sheet date
New information on the company’s financial position at the 
end of the reporting period which becomes known after the 
reporting period is recorded in the annual accounts. Events 
after the reporting period that do not affect the Group's financial 
position at the end of the reporting period but which will affect 
the Group's financial position in the future are disclosed if 
significant.
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Note 3 Key sources of estimation uncertainty, judgments and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and applying the chosen accounting policies requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and the 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. The accounting 
policies applied by the Saferoad Group in which judgments, 
estimates and assumptions may significantly differ from actual 
results are discussed below. 

Sources of estimation uncertainty
Impairment of assets
Goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation 
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which good-
will have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires 
management to estimate the future cash flows expected to 
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying value of 
goodwill as of 31 December 2016 is NOK 1 222 million. The 
Saferoad Group recognised impairment of goodwill of NOK 232 
million in 2016. Details of recognised goodwill are provided in 
note 15, including sensitivity disclosures. No significant events 
or changes in business or market that potentially would change 
the conclusions were identified from 31 December 2016 until 
the reporting date.

Property plant and equipment and other intangible assets
The Saferoad Group has significant carrying amounts related to 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The value in 
use of some of these assets could be influenced by changes 
in market conditions where the Group carries out its business. 
Significant and prolonged adverse market conditions and/or 
lower market prices for products and services sold could lead 
to temporary or permanent reductions of value. Such events will 
be considered as an impairment indicator and an impairment 
test will be carried out. The outcome of such impairment tests 
may be that significant impairment losses are recognised in the 
statement of income.

A reduction to the expected useful life of the assets can also 
lead to periods with higher depreciation expense going forward. 
The Saferoad Group has carried out impairment tests for 
CGU Safety Europe and the business in Turkey during 2016, 
mainly due to uncertain economic conditions in local markets. 
Total impairment write-down recognised on property, plant 
and equipment and other intangible assets in 2016 was NOK 
11 million and 77 million, respectively. The carrying amount 
of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 

as of 31 December 2016 is NOK 934 million and 302 million 
respectively. See note 14 and 15 for further details.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that 
the company will have a sufficient profit for tax purposes in 
subsequent periods to utilise the tax asset. Assessment of 
future ability to utilise tax positions is based on judgements of 
the level on taxable profit, the expected timing of utilisation, 
expected temporary differences and strategies for tax planning. 
The judgements relate to a large extent to tax losses carried 
forward. The carrying value of deferred tax assets as of 31 
December 2016 is NOK 9 million. See note 13 for information 
about recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets.

Judgements in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies
Call/ put options in business combinations
In some business combinations the Group has a call option, 
i.e. a right to acquire the remaining shares at a future date for a 
particular price. The Group has also granted a put option to the 
non-controlling shareholders whereby they have the right to sell 
their shares to the Group at a future date for a particular price. 
IFRS 3 does not provide any guidance as to how to account 
for such options in a business combination. Therefore, when 
determining the appropriate accounting in such situations, IFRS 
10, IAS 32, and IAS 39 need to be considered. See note 17 for 
further details regarding specific acquisitions subject to these 
assessments.

Call options are considered when determining whether the 
entity has obtained control. Once it is determined whether 
the Group has control over another entity, the proportions of 
profit or loss and changes in equity allocated to the parent 
and non-controlling interests are based on present ownership 
interests, and generally do not reflect the possible exercise or 
conversion of potential voting rights under call options.

In some acquisitions put options have been issued to the 
non-controlling shareholders enabling them to sell their remain-
ing shares to the Group. The estimated redemption amount has 
been recognised at the discounted value of the estimated future 
payment. The key assumptions taken into consideration is the 
probability of meeting performance targets and the discount 
factor. The actual payments may differ from the estimates.

The Group has determined whether it has present ownership 
interest over the non-controlling interests. Factors that were 
considered when determining whether or not present ownership 
interest was granted to the Group was the pricing terms of the 
put, voting rights, dividend rights and the combined effect of 
any call and put options. It has been concluded that the parent 
does not have a present ownership interest in the shares mainly 
due to the fact that the consideration is based on fair values 
at the time of execution. Therefore the access to the returns 
associated with the remaining shares subject to the put and call 
option remains with the non-controlling interest. In accordance 
with IFRS the Group then must decide which standard takes 
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precedence, IAS 32 or IFRS 10. The Group has concluded 
that IFRS 10 takes precedence and that full recognition of a 
non-controlling interest is recognised at the date of the business 
combination. If the option is subsequently exercised, it is 

accounted for as an acquisition of the non-controlling interest, 
plus the settlement of the liability against the same component 
of equity that was previously reduced. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the financial liability are recognised in profit or loss. 

Note 4 Business combinations and changes in the Group structure

Changes in the Group structure in 2016
See Note 1 for description of the Group restructuring in 2016 and 
establishment of a new parent company.

In February 2016, the Saferoad Group subsidiary ViaCon 
Sp.zo.o acquired Tubosider Hungaria Kft in Hungary from the 
Italian company Tubosider S.p.A. 90.87 per cent of the shares 
were acquired in February, and the remaining 9.13 per cent of 
the shares were acquired in April, for a total cash consideration 

of EUR 2.3 million. The acquisition is expected to increase 
the production capacity, improve cost synergies and improve 
ViaCon’s position within its niche in the Hungarian market and 
other key export markets. A goodwill of EUR 1 million was 
recognised at the acquisition, reflecting expected synergies from 
the acquisition. The company is included in the segment Road 
Infrastructure, the European region. Tubosider Hungaria Kft had 
operating revenues of EUR 1 million in 2015.

Changes in the Group structure in 2015

Acquisitions in 2015

NOK 1000

Acquired company

FLA 
Geo-

produkter AB
Nordic 

Culvert AB Stolper AS
Antin 

Kaide OY

Viacon 
Technologii 

OOO Total

Acquisition made by subsidiary
Saferoad V 
Holding AB Viacon AB Saferoad AS

Saferoad 
Finland OY

Viacon 
International 

AB

Fair value adjustment of previously held equity interest 8 152 8 152

Total consideration for the shares 71 910 16 299 16 441 7 349 6 363 118 362

Non controlling interest 0 0 0 515 2 906 3 421

Goodwill and other intangibles 47 960 12 420 15 067 5 241 11 338 92 027

Revenues and profit/(loss) from the acquired companies 
included in the consolidated accounts for 2015:

Total operating revenue from the acquisition date to 31.12. 25 172 1 883 0 25 335 5 371 57 761

Profit/(loss) from the acquisition date to 31.12. 316 (165) 0 (1 011) 227 (633)

Revenues and profit/(loss) for the consolidated accounts  
for 2015 (as if the acquistion dates were 1.1.2015):

Total operating revenue for the Group 5 663 050

Profit/(loss) for the year for the Group (253 612)

Total consideration for the shares acquired in 2015 consists of cash consideration of NOK 73.5 million and estimated future 
payments of NOK 44.9 million, see specification in Note 17.

In the table above is also included fair value adjustment of NOK 8.2 million of previously held equity interest in ViaCon Technologii 
OOO, see Note 5. 

Acquisition costs of a total of NOK 3 million are expensed in 2015.
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FLA Geoprodukter AB and Nordic Culvert AB
ViaCon acquired FLA Geoprodukter AB and Nordic Culvert AB 
in October 2015. The companies are active in Sweden, Norway 
and Finland within the ViaCon product and services segments. 
Synergies within cost and market are expected to be realised 
during 2016 and going forward. The company is included in 
CGU Road Infrastructure. 

ViaCon Technologii OOO    
ViaCon increased its ownership from 50 per cent to 60 per 
cent in ViaCon Technologii OOO in Belarus in October 2015. 
Consequently the company is reclassified from an associated 
company to a subsidiary and consolidated as such with the 40 
per cent minority presented as a non-controlling interest. The 
revaluation of the previous holding of shares resulted in a gain 
of NOK 8 million. The Saferoad Group has an option (call) to 
acquire the remaining 40 per cent of the shares. The Group has 
also issued a put option enabling the minority shareholder to sell 
the remaining shares to the Group. The estimated redemption 
amount has been reclassified from the Group`s equity and is 
presented as a liability in accordance with IFRS. The company 
is included in CGU Road Infrastructure.  
 
Stolper AS 
Saferoad AS acquired Stolper AS in December 2015. The com-
pany is active in the lightning column market and emphasises 
design and tailor made solutions. The company is included in 
CGU Road Safety Nordic.

Antin Kaide OY
In January 2015 Saferoad Finland OY acquired 80 per cent of 
the shares in Antin Kaide OY. The company performs guardrail 
installation services in Finland and will give the Group further 
access to the Finnish guardrail market. The company is 
included in CGU Road Safety Nordic.

Divestments in 2015     
The Saferoad Group made some small divestments in 2015. 
100 per cent of the shares in Montal AB, Montal Systems AS 
(the Balcony business) and Gävle Galvan AB was sold during 
2015, to a total consideration of NOK 3 million. The assets of 
Marina Systeme GmbH in Germany were sold in August 2015, 
at a price of NOK 3.8 million.     
   
The Group recognised an accounting loss of NOK 26 million 
as a consequence of the above divestments. The amount is 
included in other operating costs.   

Late 2015 Saferoad Infrastructure winded up all its activities 
in St Petersburg, Russia. Some minor formalities that were 
outstanding at year end is finalised within the first quarter of 
2016. Operational losses and losses connected to the wind up 
are reflected in the 2015 accounts. 

Note 5 Associated companies and other investments

Associated companies
The associated companies are companies in which the Group 
has significant influence. The assessment of influence is based 
on a judgement of ownership in combination of voting rights, and 
other contractual arrangements. 

 
The Group has ownership in the following associated companies 
as of 31 December 2016:

Associated companies Country Owner share Time of aquisition 

Ferrozink Trondheim AS Norway 40 % 01.09.08

IBOS Sp.zo.o Poland 50 % 15.02.11

Rinde Rekon AS Norway 42 % 01.09.08

Bjartmar Rinde AS Norway 42 % 01.09.08

The Norwegian associated companies are not strategic to 
the Group activities, while IBOS SP z.o.o is a company that 
performs crash test services for the Polish market.

ViaCon increased its ownership from 50 per cent to 60 per 
cent in ViaCon Technologii OOO in Belarus in October 2015. 
Consequently the company is reclassified from an associated 

to a subsidiary and consolidated as such with 40 per cent 
presented as a non-controlling interest. 

Carrying value of associated companies are in 2016 NOK 5.0 
million (NOK 5.0 million at year end of 2015). The majority is 
related to Ferrozink Trondheim AS with NOK 4.9 million (NOK 
4.9 million at year end 2015).
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Change in carrying value associated companies

2016

NOK 1000
Rinde 

Rekon AS
Bjartmar 

Rinde AS 
Ferrozink 

Trondheim AS IBOS SP. z o.o. Total

Opening balance 01.01.16 0 0 4 908 60 4 969

Share of this year's profit/loss 0 0 0 0 0

Equity transactions, dividends 0 0 0 0 0

Sales (+) and disposals (-) 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 (4) (4)

Translation difference 0 0 0 (5) (5)

Carrying value 31.12.16 0 0 4 908 51 4 960

2015

NOK 1000
Rinde 

Rekon AS
Bjartmar 

Rinde AS 
Ferrozink 

Trondheim AS
Lade 

Metall AS IBOS SP. z o.o.

Viacon 
Technologies 

Belarus Total

Opening balance 01.01.15 0 0 4 908 0 67 3 413 8 389

Share of this year's profit/loss 0 0 0 0 0 (226) (226)

Equity transactions, dividends 0 0 0 0 0 (1 298) (1 298)

Sales (+) and disposals (-) 0 0 0 0 0 (1 817) (1 817)

Other 0 0 0 0 0 (58) (58)

Translation difference 0 0 0 0 (7) (13) (20)

Carrying value 31.12.15 0 0 4 908 0 60 0 4 969

Share of profit/(loss) of associated companies’ in the statement of comprehensive income includes share of this year's profit, gain 
from sale of shares in associated companies and gain from reclassification of shares in associated companies to financial asset.

Financial information regarding associated companies (100 per cent basis)

Financial information 31.12.2016

NOK 1000
Rinde 

Rekon AS
Bjartmar 

Rinde AS 
Ferrozink 

Trondheim AS IBOS SP. z o.o. Total

Assets 432 89 18 868 2 030 21 419

Liabilties 48 585 3 399 6 348 545 58 877

Revenues 0 0 39 368 3 151 42 519

Profit/(Loss) (1.1 - 31.12) (2 090) (245) 648 112 (1 575)

Ownership share 42% 42% 40% 50%

Financial information 31.12.2015

NOK 1000
Rinde 

Rekon AS
Bjartmar 

Rinde AS 
Ferrozink 

Trondheim AS IBOS SP. z o.o. Total

Assets 1 522 89 19 658 2 203 23 472

Liabilties 47 585 3 154 7 566 584 58 889

Revenues 0 0 42 223 4 517 46 740

Profit/(Loss) (1.1 - 31.12) (1 556) (346) 585 245 (1 072)

Ownership share 42 % 42 % 40 % 50 %
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Other investments
The company has other investments recognised at fair value (AFS investments). The fair value as of 31.12.2016 was  
NOK 12.3 million, of which approximately NOK 9.1 million related to investments in BBV GmBH (15.00 per cent ownership)  
and NOK 2.1 million related to investments in Juralco AS (19.87 per cent ownership).

Financial information 31.12.2016

31.12.16
Ownership 
share 2016 31.12.15

Ownership 
share 2015

BBV GmbH  9 086  15.00%  9 619 15.00%

Juralco AS  2 058  19.87%  2 058 19.87%

Other shares  1 182  n/a  1 309 n/a

Total shares  12 326  12 986 

Note 6 Segment information

Segment structure
The operating segments presented are the key components of the 
Saferoad Group’s business and the segment note follow the struc-
ture of internal reporting. The following operating segments have 
been identified: Road Safety Nordic, Road Safety Europe, Road 
Infrastructure and Other/Holding. The segments are managed as 
separate and strategic businesses and no operating segment have 
been combined for the purpose of segment reporting. Assets and 
liabilities are not included in the segment reporting. 

Road Safety (Europe and Nordic)
The Road Safety segments offer road restraint systems (guard 
rails and bridge parapets), lighting columns and other traffic 
accommodation products and services (signs, work-zone pro-
tection and road marking) to contractors and road authorities in 
the Nordics and rest of Europe. Information is provided for each 
operating segment, and for the total of Road Safety to ensure 
comparability with Road Infrastructure.

Road Safety Nordic consists of entities in Norway, Sweden, 
Denmark and Finland and a production facility in Poland and 
entities in UK. Road Safety Europe consists of legal entities in 
Poland, Germany, Romania, the Netherlands, Slovakia, Belarus, 
Czech Republic and Turkey.

Road Infrastructure
Road Infrastructure offers a wide range of soil steel bridges, 
pipes, culverts, geosynthetics and water and sewage systems 
for road construction projects in Europe. Road Infrastructure 
is organised as one operating segment, but is divided in two 
geographical business units “Europe” and “Nordic”. Information 
is provided for the operating segment as a whole, along with 
information for “Europe” and “Nordic” to ensure comparability 
with Road Safety.

Road Infrastructure Nordic consists of legal entities in Norway, 
Denmark, Sweden and Finland. Road Infrastructure Europe 
consists of legal entities in Poland, the Baltic States, Austria, 
Romania, Bulgaria, Slovakia, Belarus, Czech Republic, Turkey 
and Hungary.

Other/Holding
The Other/Holding segment consists of the unallocated costs 
associated with the Group’s corporate administration, financial 
management and the elimination of inter-segment sales.

Operating segment information
The reported measure of segment profit is EBITDA and EBITA. 
The Group defines EBITDA as Income (loss) before tax, financial 
income and expense, depreciation, amortisation and write-
downs, including depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
of excess values in equity accounted investments. The Group 
defines EBITA as Income (loss) before tax, financial income and 
expense, amortisation and write-downs, including amortisation 
and impairment of excess values in equity accounted invest-
ments. The Group’s definition of EBITDA and EBITA may be 
different from other companies.

Segment performance is evaluated based on “Underlying 
EBITDA” and “Underlying EBITA” which deviates from EBITDA 
and EBITA derived from the consolidated financial statements. 
In the internal reporting revenues and expenses are adjusted for 
items which management believes to be non-recurring, such 
as restructuring expenses, gains and losses (including transac-
tions costs) from disposals of business, transaction costs from 
preparations of the Group for a potential change of ownership, 
impairment charges and other non-recurring items. Transfer 
prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis 
in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

Depreciations and impairments related to excess values for fixed 
assets recognised at acquisitions, are not allocated to the seg-
ments, and are shown below under "Unallocated Depreciation" 
and "Impairment other". The elimination of inter-segment sales is 
included in "Eliminations".

The following table include information about the Group’s 
operation segments and business areas.
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Total operating revenue Underlying

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Segment Road Safety Nordic 2 647 798 2 596 648

Segment Road Safety Europe 1 437 814 1 289 179

Other/Eliminations (71 018) (71 594)

Road Safety 4 014 594 3 814 233

Road Infrastructure Nordic 851 170 720 429

Road Infrastructure Europe 1 000 532 1 013 913

Other/Eliminations (64 744) (40 996)

Segment Road Infrastructure 1 786 958 1 693 346

Other/Holding 353 42 850

Eliminations (38 027) (44 125)

Total Underlying operating revenue 5 763 878 5 506 305

Adjustments 1) 0 16 998

Total operating revenue Reported 5 763 878 5 523 303

1) Items which management believes to be non-recurring

Personnel cost Underlying

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Segment Road Safety Nordic (740 829) (701 529)

Segment Road Safety Europe (201 196) (184 367)

Other/Eliminations 1 076 0

Road Safety (940 949) (885 897)

Road Infrastructure Nordic (117 142) (108 325)

Road Infrastructure Europe (116 230) (105 904)

Other/Eliminations (9 485) (9 521)

Segment Road Infrastructure (242 857) (223 749)

Other/Holding (29 950) (46 335)

Eliminations 1 265 62

Total Underlying personnel cost (1 212 491) (1 155 920)

Classification adjustments 2) 25 648 17 185

Adjustments 1) (4 738) (29 677)

Personnel cost Reported (1 191 581) (1 168 412)

1)  Items which management believes to be non-recurring

2) External services classified as Other operating cost in IFRS is classified as Personnel cost in underlying figures
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Other operating cost Underlying 

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Segment Road Safety Nordic (322 001) (315 300)

Segment Road Safety Europe (116 863) (120 011)

Other/Eliminations 0 0

Road Safety (438 864) (435 311)

Road Infrastructure Nordic (69 032) (61 900)

Road Infrastructure Europe (89 080) (84 197)

Other/Eliminations 3 910 1 771

Segment Road Infrastructure (154 202) (144 326)

Other/Holding (8 321) (12 272)

Eliminations 1 763 1 247

Total Underlying other operating cost (599 624) (590 662)

Classification adjustments 2) (162 011) (181 081)

Adjustments 1) (26 056) (85 713)

Other operating cost Reported (787 692) (857 456)

1)  Items which management believes to be non-recurring

2) Freight charges classified as Other operating cost in IFRS is classified as Cost of goods sold in underlying figures

EBITDA Underlying

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Segment Road Safety Nordic 236 962 269 946

Segment Road Safety Europe 136 635 71 308

Other/Eliminations 0 0

Road Safety 373 597 341 254

Road Infrastructure Nordic 53 829 23 404

Road Infrastructure Europe 93 154 96 758

Other/Eliminations (4 684) (8 319)

Segment Road Infrastructure 142 299 111 843

Other/Holding/Eliminations (37 856) (39 398)

Total Underlying EBITDA 478 040 413 699

Adjustments 1) (30 794) (135 148)

EBITDA Reported 447 245 278 550

Depreciation and impairment (167 176) (185 742)

Amortisation and impairment (390 332) (107 422)

Operating profit/(loss) Reported (110 263) (14 614)

1) Items which management believes to be non-recurring
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EBITA Underlying

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Segment Road Safety Nordic 155 168 190 839

Segment Road Safety Europe 103 697 40 766

Other/Eliminations 0 0

Road Safety 258 865 231 605

Road Infrastructure Nordic 49 961 18 254

Road Infrastructure Europe 69 780 73 756

Other/Eliminations (3 514) (8 885)

Segment Road Infrastructure 116 227 83 125

Other/Holding/Eliminations (37 637) (38 942)

Total Underlying EBITA 337 454 275 789

Unallocated depreciation 2) (15 250) (16 009)

Impairment other 2) (11 341) (30 867)

Adjustments 1) (30 794) (136 105)

EBITA Reported 280 070 92 808

Amortisation and impairment (390 332) (107 422)

Operating profit/(loss) Reported (110 263) (14 614)

1) Items which management believes to be non-recurring

2) Excess values not allocated to underlying business

Information about geographical areas
 Total operating revenue

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Norway  1 282 854  1 356 007 

Sweden  1 474 533  1 335 881 

Denmark  293 163  251 590 

Poland  627 597  620 828 

Germany  880 307  785 447 

Other Europe  1 205 424  1 173 551 

Total operating revenue  5 763 878  5 523 303 

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Net revenue - products  4 902 301  4 841 803 

Net revenue - services  829 358  653 881 

Other operating revenue  32 219  27 619 

Total operating revenue  5 763 878  5 523 303 

The Group and the segments have a diversified customer base and are not reliant on any single major customer.
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Note 7 Construction contracts 

The Saferoad Group is involved in contracts specifically 
negotiated to provide construction of assets to the buyer’s 
specification. These contracts are often relatively short term in 
nature but in many cases reaching over several months and 
sometimes years. 

At 31 December 2016 the Group had ongoing road infrastructure 
contracts.

The status of the Group’s contracts in progress at the end of 
2016 is as follows:

NOK 1000

2016
Contracts 

to date

2015
 Contracts

 to date

Contract revenue recognised 418 544 266 902

Contract expenses recognised 329 648 206 722

Recognised profits less losses 88 896 60 180

Earned not invoiced on ongoing contracts (included in other receivables) 31 508 46 688

Prepayments from customers (included in other current liabilities) 0 0

Advances received 1 410 792

Retentions 0 4 594

Note 8 Cost of goods sold and inventories 

Cost of goods sold

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Purchase of goods and changes in inventories  3 334 020 3 185 640

Write-down of inventories  3 340 33 245

Total cost of goods sold  3 337 360  3 218 885 

Inventories

NOK 1000
Carrying value

31.12.16
Carrying value

31.12.15

Raw materials  428 043  314 403 

Work in progress  51 478  86 244 

Own produced goods  154 580  170 894 

Goods purchased for resale  275 795  282 443 

Total inventories  909 895  853 983 

At year end 2015 an inventory write-down of PLN 9.9 million 
(NOK 22.4 million) was made in the Polish entity Intermetal. 
The write-down related mainly to slow moving items as well as 
reflecting the significant drop in world market prices for steel 

that was not efficiently handled due to a non-successful new 
set-up of the supply chain in the Road Safety Europe in 2015. 
Consequently, the supply-chain was reorganised with effect 
from 1 January 2016.
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Note 9 Other operating costs 

Other operating costs

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Fees to auditors  15 716  13 494 

Rent  69 878  70 151 

Other costs related to premises  56 056  53 683 

Operational lease  20 845  18 886 

Direct operating costs (incl. repairs and maintenance)  199 373  186 919 

Selling and distribution costs  213 174  242 868 

Administrative costs  137 309  151 887 

Membership, insurance, license- and guarantee costs  28 980  31 021 

Capital losses upon sales of fixed assets  238  1 553 

Bad debts  7 435  29 593 

Other operating costs  38 687  57 401 

Total other operating costs  787 692  857 456 

The Group has entered into different operational lease and 
rental agreements for machinery, offices and other facilities. 
Rental agreements are mainly rental of premises for own use. 

Most of the agreements contain an option for extension. For 
details related to these agreements see Note 26 Leasing, rental 
agreements.

Fees to auditors

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Fees for audit  11 205  9 233 

Fees for attestation services  461  229 

Fees for tax services  1 064  983 

Fees for other services  2 986  3 048 

Total fees  15 716  13 494 

Of which is auditing fees to Ernst & Young  9 134  7 339 

Of which is other fees to Ernst & Young  2 740  2 635 
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Note 10 Employees, total personnel costs

Salaries and remuneration 

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Salary 910 722 892 097

Social security tax on salaries, pensions, bonuses etc 171 380 169 478

Other personnel expenses 27 209 26 172

Pension expenses 55 396 53 074

Bonuses 26 875 27 591

Total salaries and remuneration 1 191 581 1 168 412

There are 2 715 employees in the Saferoad Group per 31 December 2016 (2 644 last year). 

Whereof Salaries and remuneration for Board of Directors and Group CEO  

The Board of Directors received a total remuneration of NOK 833 
thousand in 2016 (NOK 675 thousand in 2015). Remuneration 
is set to a fixed fee for the year. None of the members of the 
Board of Directors owned shares in the Saferoad Group in 
2016 or 2015. The Chair and the members of the Board have 

no agreements for further compensation due to termination or 
changes in the position.

The table below sets out the remuneration for the Group CEO for 
2016.

NOK 1000 2016

Salary 1)  4 046 

Bonus 2)  1 067 

Other benefits 3)  148 

Pension benefits  74 

Total  5 334 

1) Salary consist of base salary and holiday payment. 

2) Bonus earned in 2015, paid in 2016. 

3) Other benefits is the total of all other cash and non-cash related benefits received by the individual during the year presented and includes such items as the taxable portion of insurance 
premiums, company car, car allowances and electronic communication items. 

Morten Holum assumed the position as CEO in October 2015. 
His employment contract is with the subsidiary Saferoad AS. 
The CEO received a remuneration of NOK 900 thousand for the 
period 1 October – 31 December 2015. The pension cost for the 
CEO for this period was NOK 17 thousand. 

The CEO has a performance based bonus agreement. In 
addition, the CEO has a stay-on-bonus agreement for the period 
until 30 September 2017 and a bonus agreement triggered by 

a change of ownership. The stay-on-bonus is paid pro rata on 
an annual basis. The remaining part of the bonus becomes due 
if Saferoad terminates the employment contract or if there is a 
change of ownership of more than a majority of the ownership 
interest in Saferoad during the period.

The Group CEO had no shares in the Saferoad Group in 2016 
or 2015. There are no loans or share-based payments from the 
company to Group CEO or Board of Directors.
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Note 11 Pensions

The Group policy is to offer pension contribution plans to its 
employees. The Norwegian companies in the Group are required 
by law to have a pension scheme. This requirement is fulfilled 
by the Norwegian entities. The main characteristic of a defined 
contribution plan is that the employer`s obligation is limited to the 
amount it agrees to contribute to the plan. For such plans the 
contribution is expensed as they are incurred. 

In line with the Group policy, most defined benefit plans was 
terminated in 2008 or earlier. For historical reasons there are still 
a limited number of such plans in place in Sweden, Norway and 
in Germany. The main financial and accounting impact of the 
remaining defined benefit plans have been summarised below, on 
the line "defined benefit expense" and under the heading "defined 
benefit assets and liabilities".

Pension expense for the year

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Defined benefit expense 2 552 2 439

Defined contibution expense 52 844 50 636

Total pension expense 55 396 53 074

Defined benefit assets and liabilities

Accrued pension obligations 60 835 60 473

Pension plan assets (22 799) (23 392)

Net benefit obligations 38 036 37 081

Plans with a surplus is recognised separately from plans with a deficit

Recognised pension assets 291 739

Recognised pension obligations 38 327 37 821

Actuarial and financial assumptions (defined benefit plans) 
 2016  2015

NOK 1000 Norway Sweden Germany Norway Sweden Germany

Discount rates 2.1% 2.4% 1.8% 2.7% 2.8% 2.4%

Salary increase 2.3% 3.0% 1.0% 2.5% 3.0% 0.0%

Actuarial losses of NOK 3 838 thousand (after tax) in 2016 and actuarial gain of NOK 1 664 thousand (after tax) in 2015 have been 
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Note 12 Financial items

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Interest income 7 124 11 123

Fair value gains on derivatives 13 024 10 835

Other financial income 3 787 1 494

Total financial income 23 935 23 452

Interest expenses 209 098 191 236

Fair value loss on derivatives 0 358

Other financial expenses 47 394 102 282

Total financial expenses 256 491 293 875

Currency exchange gain 44 655 296 504

Currency exchange loss 142 025 235 588

Net exchange rate gain (loss) (97 370) 60 916

Share of profit/(loss) of associated companies 0 5 598

Net financial income/expenses (329 926) (203 909)

Other financial expenses in 2016 and 2015 consist mainly of 
changes in estimates for put options and earn outs of NOK 24 
million (NOK 64 million), see note 17, and bank fees. 

Currency exchange gains and losses are mainly related 
to shareholder loans and liabilities to credit institutions in 

non-functional currencies. The gains and losses arise from 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities expressed in 
non-functional currencies to the exchange rate in effect on the 
balance sheet date, and from transactions in non-functional 
currencies translated at the rate in effect on the transaction 
date. The gains and losses are netted per currency per entity. 
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Note 13 Income tax

 
Tax income/(expense)

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Tax payable (34 446) (66 591)

Changes in deferred tax 35 386 21 433

Tax income/(expense) recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 940 (45 158)

Prepaid tax (included in other receivables) 16 990 18 703

Current tax liabilities (9 945) (46 459)

Total (net) tax payable 31 December (+receivable/-liability) 7 045 (27 756)

 
A reconciliation of the effective rate of tax and the tax rate in Cidron Triangle AS’s country of registration: 

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Profit /(loss) before tax (440 189) (218 523)

Expected income taxes according to income tax rate in Norway 25% / 27% 110 047 59 001

Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous years (7 560) (292)

Deferred tax assets not recognised current year (39 841) (43 519)

Use of previously unrecognised loss carried forward 29 224 524

Impairment of goodwill, non deductible (53 189) (5 626)

Non deductible expenses (25 955) (41 380)

Non-taxable income 3 341 912

Tax rate outside Norway other than 25% / 27% (9 228) (13 684)

Change in deferred tax assets/liabilities due to change in tax rates 1) 1 168 966

Other (7 066) (2 060)

Tax income/(expense) recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 940 (45 158)

Income tax income/ (expense) reported in other comprehensive income

Pensions (714) 141

Tax effect on currency translation - net investment (8 302) 0

Income tax on other comprehensive income (9 015) 141

1) Deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured at the enacted tax rate of 24 per cent at year end 2016 for Norwegian entities. 
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Deferred tax liabilities/(deferred tax assets) 

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Non-current assets and liabilities:

Intangible assets 54 731 87 934

Tangible fixed assets 42 007 46 966

Pensions (4 650) (4 078)

Other non-current items 919 1 327

Total non-current assets and liabilities 93 007 132 149

Current assets and liabilities:

Inventory (1 061) (1 334)

Liabilities (4 533) (3 704)

Trade receivables (2 944) (6 100)

Other investments at fair value 1 234 (1 727)

Other current items (5 118) (7 156)

Total current assets and liabilities (12 422) (20 020)

Tax losses carried forward (252 905) (249 028)

Of which assets not recognised (valuation allowance) (206 234) (217 478)

Net recognised deferred tax liabilities 33 914 80 578

Of which deferred tax assets 8 984 14 982

Of which deferred tax liabilities (42 898) (95 560)

 
The Group has a total tax loss carried forward of NOK 1 151 million (NOK 1 131 million) which expires as follows:  

NOK 1000 Sweden
United 

Kingdom Germany Other 2016 2015

Current year +1 year 21 117 21 117 9 328

Current year +2 years 12 302 12 302 34 194

Current year +3 years 22 810 22 810 16 380

Current year +4 years 17 663 17 663 11 682

Current year +5 years or later 88 674 88 674 87 556

No due date 685 603 133 540 84 921 84 747 988 811 972 299

Total tax loss carried forward 685 603 133 540 84 921 247 314 1 151 377 1 131 438

On which deferred tax assets have not been recognised 573 715 133 540 84 921 151 564 943 739 983 329

Total tax loss on which deferred tax assets have been recognised 111 888 0 0 95 750 207 638 148 109

Changes in net deferred taxes: 

NOK 1000 2016 2015

As of 1 January 80 578 96 795

Recognised in profit and loss (35 386) (21 433)

Recognised as other comprehensive income (9 015) 141

Acquistions and disposals 0 3 778

Translation differences (2 264) 1 297

As of 31 December 33 914 80 578

Of which deferred tax assets 8 984 14 982

Of which deferred tax liabilities (42 898) (95 560)
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The Group’s expected income taxes in 2016 and 2015 are 
measured according to income tax rate in Norway (25 per cent 
in 2016 and 27 per cent in 2015). The non-deductible expenses 
in 2015 and 2016 includes other financial expenses related to 
changes in estimated future payments for put options on shares 
(see Note 12 and Note 16), non-deductible interest expenses, 
and loss on sale of subsidiaries (see note 4).

For all countries a net deferred tax liability is recognised at year 
end 2016, except for smaller amounts for the Netherlands, 
Poland and Bulgaria, where a net tax asset is recognised. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised based on expected future 
tax income. There is no due date on tax losses carried forward 
in Sweden, and the tax loss carried forward in Sweden is 
expected to be utilised over time. However, for parts of the 
tax losses carried forward in Sweden a deferred tax asset has 
not been recognised as per 31 December 2016 and per 31 
December 2015, due to uncertainty related to time of utilisation 
and the strong evidence requirement of future profit. Tax losses 
carried forward has not been recognised for Germany, United 
Kingdom and other countries due to limitation in local tax 
regulations and/or uncertainty related to time of utilisation and 
the strong evidence requirement of future profit.

Note 14 Property, plant and equipment

 
2016

NOK 1000  Land  Buildings 
 Machines / 
equipment 

 Construction 
in progress 

Rental 
equipment

/furniture
/vehicles 1) Total

Accumulated cost 1 January 2016 32 051 653 065 692 113 5 695 371 758 1 754 682

Reclassifications 1 932 7 288 (7 634) (966) 5 862 6 483

Additions, acquisition of subsidiaries 1 511 4 516 5 363 0 53 11 443

Additions, other 77 6 792 101 768 2 813 51 661 163 112

Disposals (113) (3 971) (57 207) (2) (14 196) (75 489)

Translation differences (1 949) (28 243) (33 876) (472) (15 475) (80 016)

Accumulated cost 31 December 2016 33 509 639 446 700 528 7 069 399 663 1 780 215

Depreciation method 
Useful life

NOK 1000
No 

depreciation
Linear

10-40 year
Linear

5-10 year
No 

depreciation
Linear

3-5 year Total

Accumulated depreciations and impairments 1 January 2016 419 262 094 330 453 2 093 171 868 766 927

Reclassifications 141 3 375 607 0 2 366 6 489

Disposals 0 (3 716) (52 568) (2) (11 135) (67 421)

Depreciations 0 31 870 70 583 0 53 382 155 835

Impairments 2) 0 0 6 990 0 4 351 11 341

Translation differences (99) (10 935) (9 703) (224) (6 252) (27 213)

Accumulated depreciations and impairments 31 December 2016 461 282 687 346 362 1 867 214 580 845 957

Carrying value 1 January 2016 31 631 390 971 361 660 3 602 199 890 987 755

Carrying value 31 December 2016 33 047 356 759 354 167 5 201 185 083 934 258

1) This category includes rental equipment where the Group is the lessor.

2) NOK 4 027 thousand represents impairment in Road Safety Europe and 7 314 thousand represents impairment in Turkey.
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2015

NOK 1000  Land  Buildings 
 Machines / 
equipment 

 Construction 
in progress 

Rental 
equipment

/furniture
/vehicles 2) Total

Accumulated cost 1 January 2015 36 594 661 874 630 682 4 670 314 450 1 648 270

Reclassifications 1) 1 450 (3 684) 9 820 (2 739) 5 663 10 511

Additions, acquisition of subsidiaries 110 1 316 3 749 0 2 508 7 682

Additions, other 566 6 439 77 277 3 442 60 189 147 914

Disposals (8 298) (39 479) (49 848) (63) (24 626) (122 314)

Translation differences 1 628 26 599 20 433 387 13 574 62 621

Accumulated cost 31 December 2015 32 051 653 065 692 113 5 695 371 758 1 754 682

Depreciation method 
Useful life

NOK 1000
No 

depreciation
Linear

10-40 year
Linear

5-10 year
No 

depreciation
Linear

3-5 year Total

Accumulated depreciations and impairments 1 January 2015 4 229 172 284 907 80 131 230 645 393

Reclassifications 1) 354 (260) 6 249 0 4 077 10 421

Disposals 0 (33 722) (43 693) (53) (19 082) (96 550)

Depreciations 0 33 296 72 369 0 49 210 154 876

Impairments 3) 0 23 620 4 235 1 949 1 062 30 867

Translation differences 62 9 987 6 386 117 5 369 21 921

Accumulated depreciations and impairments 31 December 2015 419 262 094 330 453 2 093 171 868 766 927

Carrying value 1 January 2015 36 590 432 702 345 775 4 590 183 220 1 002 875

Carrying value 31 December 2015 31 631 390 971 361 660 3 602 199 890 987 755

1) Reclassifications mainly relates to corrections between accumulated cost and accumulated depreciation in Lithuania.

2) This category includes rental equipment where the Group is the lessor.

3) The impairment of NOK 23 620 thousand relates to buildings in Rumtikili OY.

There is no material capitalised interest cost on property, plant and equipment per 31 December 2016 or per 31 December 2015.  

Financial leasing
The Group has financial and operating leases, see note 26 
for operating leases. The Group’s assets under financial lease 
agreements, where the Group is the lessee, include machinery 
and equipment, furniture and vehicles. In addition to the rental 

payments, the Group has obligations relating to the mainte-
nance and other user-related costs of the assets. The lease 
periods vary from three to ten years, and several agreements 
involve a right of renewal. 

Carrying value capitalised leases 

NOK 1000
31 December

2016
31 December

2015

Machinery and equipment, furniture and vehicles  62 983  61 934 

Total  62 983  61 934 
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Note 15 Intangible assets

 
2016

NOK 1000
 Licenses, 

product rights etc  Development  Goodwill 
 Customer 

relationships 
 Other 

intangibles Total

Accumulated cost 1 January 2016 62 226 157 637 1 645 829 752 938 84 910 2 703 540

Reclassifications 0 0 (11) 0 0 (11)

Additions, acquisition of subsidiaries 0 490 11 091 0 31 11 612

Additions, other 1 310 16 805 0 0 6 338 24 453

Derecognition (695) 0 0 0 (2 183) (2 879)

Translation differences (3 336) (7 766) (79 460) (41 441) (5 625) (137 628)

Accumulated cost 31 December 2016 59 505 167 166 1 577 448 711 496 83 471 2 599 087

Amortisation method
Useful life

NOK 1000
Linear

5-10 year
Linear

3-15 year
No 

amortization
Linear

5-15 year
Linear

3-15 year Total

Accumulated amortisations and impairments 1 January 2016 24 629 89 604 134 644 411 128 75 297 735 303

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 (13) (13)

Amortisations 2 569 15 168 0 58 487 5 202 81 425

Derecognition (695) 0 0 0 (2 114) (2 810)

Impairments 1) 9 067 21 819 231 528 46 494 0 308 907

Translation differences (941) (4 825) (10 942) (26 013) (5 004) (47 726)

Accumulated amortisations and impairments 31 December 2016 34 628 121 765 355 230 490 096 73 368 1 075 087

Carrying value 1 January 2016 37 597 68 033 1 511 184 341 810 9 613 1 968 237

Carrying value 31 December 2016 24 877 45 401 1 222 219 221 400 10 103 1 524 000

1) NOK 183 274 thousand represents impairment of goodwill and excess values related to CGU Road Safety Europe and NOK 125 633 thousand to goodwill in Denmark related to CGU Road 
Safety Nordic.     
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2015

NOK 1000
 Licenses, 

product rights etc  Development  Goodwill 
 Customer 

relationships 
 Other 

intangibles Total

Accumulated cost 1 January 2015 58 128 138 366 1 515 328 701 303 74 193 2 487 318

Reclassifications 460 0 (55) 0 110 516

Additions, acquisition of subsidiaries 0 0 77 524 12 426 2 89 952

Additions, other 400 11 348 0 0 5 420 17 168

Derecognition 0 (194) (27 859) 0 (37) (28 090)

Translation differences 3 238 8 118 80 891 39 208 5 221 136 676

Accumulated cost 31 December 2015 62 226 157 637 1 645 829 752 938 84 910 2 703 540

Amortisation method
Useful life

NOK 1000
Linear

5-10 year
Linear

3-15 year
No 

amortization
Linear

5-15 year
Linear

3-15 year Total

Accumulated amortisations and impairments 1 January 2015 20 129 69 862 126 664 335 178 62 858 614 691

Reclassifications 406 0 0 0 115 520

Amortisations 3 307 15 506 0 53 914 7 587 80 313

Derecognition 0 0 (27 859) 0 (31) (27 890)

Impairments 1) 0 0 27 109 0 0 27 109

Translation differences 788 4 237 8 731 22 036 4 768 40 560

Accumulated amortisations and impairments 31 December 2015 24 629 89 604 134 644 411 128 75 297 735 303

Carrying value 1 January 2015 37 999 68 504 1 388 664 366 125 11 335 1 872 627

Carrying value 31 December 2015 37 597 68 033 1 511 184 341 810 9 613 1 968 237

1) NOK 26 435 thousand represents impairment of goodwill related to CGU Road Safety Europe.     

Changes in Groups of cash-generating unit composition
The cash-generating units (CGU) composition has been changed 
from 2015 to 2016 due to a reorganisation of the Group, which 
has changed the way goodwill is monitored. Several CGUs 
have changed their name and composition. The changes in the 
composition and names of the CGUs are provided below:

 · CGU Road Safety Nordic: This CGU consists of entities in 
the previous CGU Norway and CGU Nordic. This CGU now 
also includes Brødrene Berntsen AS (from Other), Brødrene 
Berntsen AB (from Other) and Saferoad Pomerania Sp.zo.o 

 · CGU Road Safety Europe: There has been no material 
changes in CGU Road Safety Europe from 2015 to 2016. 

 · CGU Road Infrastructure: There has been no material 
changes in CGU Road Infrastructure from 2015 to 2016. 

 · CGU Other: There are no entities left in CGU Other in 2016.

As there were significant changes in the composition of the 
Groups of cash-generating units (CGU) during 2016, compara-
ble figures for required return and growth rates do not exist.

Goodwill has been reallocated according to the new composi-
tion of CGUs. The reallocation has been performed using the 
goodwill associated with the reorganised units, i.e. the specific 
goodwill initially recognised at the different acquisitions of 
entities or Groups of entities, allocated at a more decomposed 
level than the goodwill at the CGU level.

The tables below outlines goodwill per 31 December 2015 per 
the prior CGU structure, and goodwill allocated to the following 
new CGUs.
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CGU (Previous structure)

NOK 1000
31 December

2015

Norway 613 838

Nordic 468 593

Europe 112 471

ViaCon 291 246

Other 25 036

Total 1 511 184

CGU (New structure)

NOK 1000
31 December

2016
31 December

2015

Road Safety Nordic 943 854 1 107 417

Road Safety Europe 0 112 500

Road Infrastructure 278 365 291 268

Total 1 222 218 1 511 184

Impairment testing of goodwill 
The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or more 
frequently if there are indications that goodwill is impaired. 
Recognised goodwill in the Group as of 31 December 2016 is 
NOK 1 222 million and is mainly derived from CGU Road Safety 
Nordic. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. 

The cash flows in the calculations are based on the long 
term budgets for the period 2017 to 2021, approved by the 
Group Management. Cash flows after year 2021 have been 
extrapolated using a long-term growth rate that is similar to 
the expected long term inflation per country. The expected 
long term inflation is mainly in the range of 1.5 to 2.5 per cent. 
The Saferoad Group has applied a weighted average cost of 
capital (WACC) specific for each CGU. The value in use is the 
net present value of the estimated cash flow before tax, using 
a discount factor reflecting the timing of the cash flows and the 
expected risks. The calculations of terminal value are based on 
Gordon’s formula.

The estimated cash flows for the period 2017 to 2021 are 
higher than reported figures in historical periods and assume 
revenue growth and better margins. Backed by long term 
governmental budgets for infrastructure spend in key markets, 
the outlook for good growth on the demand side are solid. 
The Group is well positioned to capture this growth. A number 
of restructuring initiatives and divestments of some non-core 
business areas have improved the Group’s position to increase 
the cash flow. Strong market and cost synergies are expected 
from acquisitions made in 2016.

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations
The calculations of value-in-use for all the CGU are to a large 
extent based on key assumptions related to:

 · Sales growth 
 · Discount rates
 · Margins 

Sales growth – The expected sales growth varies, both between 
entities within a CGU and between CGUs. Sales growth 
combines estimated market growth with strategic initiatives in 
the respective CGU.

Discount rates – Discount rates reflect the current market 
assessment of the risks specific to each CGU. The discount 
rate is estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC) for the industry. This rate is further adjusted to reflect 
the market assessment of any risk specific to the CGU for 
which future estimates of cash-flows have not been adjusted. 
The market risk premium of equity was 6 per cent, at the same 
level as 2015.

Margins – Margins are dependent on sales mix, competition 
and improved sourcing from initiatives on Group and CGU 
levels. In calculating sales growth and gross margins, the raw 
material price market levels are kept unchanged. This implies an 
underlying assumption that changes in raw material markets are 
reflected in product sales prices.

The table below outlines the key assumptions for each CGU.
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NOK 1000
Expected compound annual growth rate 
(CAGR) of sales in the long-term budget

Pre-tax discount rate applied 
to cash flow projections Gross margin

Road Safety Nordic 4.1% 8.79% 50 %

Road Safety Europe 2.6% 9.84% 32-35%

Road Infrastructure 3.0% 10.27% 28-29%

The results from the impairment test shows that recoverable 
amount exceeds carrying amount by 40 per cent for CGU 
Road Safety Nordic and 31 per cent for Road Infrastructure. 
The Group does not recognise impairment losses for the CGUs 
Road Safety Nordic or Road Infrastructure, but does recognise 
impairment loss as of year end 2016 related to the CGU Road 
Safety Europe. An impairment loss of NOK 183 million is rec-
ognised in profit/loss in 2016, relating to the remaining goodwill 
(NOK 106 million) and intangible excess values of customer 
relationships, development and product rights (NOK 77 million) 
of the CGU Road Safety Europe. The impairment results from 
a more conservative assessment of the cash flow from Road 
Safety Europe in the budget period and in the terminal value, 
specially related to somewhat higher estimates for the cash 
outflow related to capital expenditures.

The Group has made a separate assessment of the business in 
Denmark, which is part of the CGU Road Safety Nordic, due to 
low performance in 2015 and 2016. An impairment loss of NOK 
126 million is recognised in profit/loss in 2016, relating to the 
remaining goodwill of the business in Denmark.

An impairment loss of NOK 26 million was recognised in profit/
loss in 2015, relating to the goodwill of the previous CGU 
Europe. 

The calculations of recoverable amount are sensitive for 
changes in key assumptions. The table below outlines the level 
of change in a single assumption which will lead to impairment 
charges.

NOK 1000
Expected compound annual growth rate 
(CAGR) of sales in the long-term budget

Pre-tax discount rate applied 
to cash flow projections

Road Safety Nordic -1.2%-points 1.9%-points

Road Infrastructure -1.3%-points 1.8%-points

Sensitivity analysis have been performed on two of the most 
sensitive assumptions: changes in sales growth and changes in 
discount rates. Sensitivity analysis indicates that the conclusion 
is fairly robust to change in assumptions for all CGUs except for 
the CGU Road Safety Europe, where all goodwill and intangible 
excess values have been impaired. 

1 percentage point lower discount rate for the CGU Road 
Safety Europe would have led to no impairment for this CGU. 

The annual sales growth must be increased to 4.3 per cent in 
order to avoid an impairment situation for the CGU Road Safety 
Europe.

The Group believes that no reasonably possible change in any 
of the key assumptions used for impairment testing would 
cause the recoverable amount to be lower than the carrying 
amount of the cash generating unit, except for the CGU Road 
Safety Europe.

Saferoad  |  Annual report 201654



Note 16 Other provisions

 
Non-current

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Warranty provision  4 280  6 109 

Other provisions  13 514  21 910 

Total non-current provisions  17 794  28 018 

Current

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Restructuring provisions  1 673  10 122 

Total current provisions  1 673  10 122 

Other provisions include provisions for non-paid value added 
tax (VAT) for scrap steel made in the business in Germany. Final 
settlement including fixing the amount is subject to agreement 
with the tax authorities. Other provisions also include royalty 
provisions for suppliers (license agreements) and provisions for 
other non-current liabilities.

 

Restructuring provisions
The Group launched a restructuring program in the fall of 2015 
to improve performance. The restructuring program included 
headquarter functions, general cost reductions and restructur-
ing of some operating entities, including closure of production 
facilities. The provision related to the restructuring is NOK 1.7 
million at year end 2016 (NOK 10.1 million at year end of 2015).

Changes in provisions in 2016

NOK 1000
Warranty 

provisions
Other 

provisions

Total
non-current 

provisions
Restructuring 

provisions

Total
current 

provisions

Other provisions

Opening balance 6 109 21 910 28 019 10 122 10 122

Additions 1 576 11 890 13 466 0 0

Used (amount charged against provision) (285) (11 074) (11 359) (6 285) (6 285)

Unused amounts reversed (2 782) (6 427) (9 209) (1 293) (1 293)

Translation difference (338) (2 785) (3 123) (872) (872)

Closing balance 4 280 13 514 17 794 1 673 1 673
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Note 17 Put options on remaining shares and earn outs on acquired shares

Put options on shares and estimated future payments
In some acquired companies with non-controlling interests, put 
options are issued for the purchase of the remaining shares. 

The estimated future payments related to these shares are 
shown in the table below. Options that do not create any 
obligations are not reported. 

 
NOK 1000 2016 2015

Included in non-current liabilities 8 146 225 766

Included in other current liabilities 220 819 0

Total estimated payments 228 965 225 766

Changes in estimated payments in 2016
 
NOK 1000 2016

Opening balance 225 766

Increased estimate existing obligations 20 119

Translation difference (16 920)

Closing balance 228 965

After an acquisition in 2015, the Group, through Saferoad 
Finland OY owns 80 per cent of the voting shares in Antin Kaide 
OY. The Group also entered into a shareholders’ agreement 
with an option to buy the remaining 20 per cent of the shares. 
The shareholders’ agreement contains clauses regarding put 
and call options on the shares owned by the minority share-
holders that only can be exercised under certain circumstances. 
The agreement does not provide the Group with a present 
ownership interests in the remaining shares and therefore a 
non-controlling interest is recognised at the date of the business 
combination. The price for the shares should be set at fair 
market value, but not higher than EUR 600.000.

After an acquisition in 2015, the Group, through Saferoad V 
Holding AB, owns 60 per cent of the voting shares in ViaCon 
Technologii OOO. The Group also entered into a shareholders’ 
agreement with an option to buy the remaining 40 per cent 
of the shares. The shareholders’ agreement contains clauses 
regarding put and call options on the shares owned by the 
minority shareholders that only can be exercised under certain 
circumstances. The agreement does not provide the Group 
with a present ownership interests in the remaining shares and 
therefore a non-controlling interest is recognised at the date 
of the business combination. The price for the shares is profit 
based and calculated according to a formula based on an 
average consolidated EBITDA and an EV/EBITDA multiple.

After an acquisition in 2010, the Group, through Saferoad V 
Holding AB, owns 75 per cent of the voting shares in ViaCon 
Sp.zo.o. In 2015 the Group also entered into a shareholders’ 
agreement with an option to buy the remaining 25 per cent 
of the shares. The shareholders’ agreement contains clauses 
regarding put and call options on the shares owned by the 
minority shareholder that only can be exercised under certain 
circumstances. The agreement does not provide the Group 
with a present ownership interests in the remaining shares and 
therefore a non-controlling interest is recognised at the date 

of the business combination. The price for the shares is profit 
based and calculated according to a formula based on an 
average consolidated EBITDA and an EV/EBITDA multiple.

After an acquisition in 2010, the Group, through Saferoad 
V Holding AB owns 60 per cent of the voting shares in OY 
ViaCon AB. In 2014 the Group also entered into a shareholders’ 
agreement with an option to buy the remaining 40 per cent 
of the shares. The shareholders’ agreement contains clauses 
regarding put and call options on the shares owned by the 
minority shareholder that only can be exercised under certain 
circumstances. The agreement does not provide the Group 
with a present ownership interests in the remaining shares and 
therefore a non-controlling interest is recognised at the date 
of the business combination. The price for the shares is profit 
based and calculated according to a formula based on an 
average consolidated EBITDA and an EV/EBITDA multiple.

On 31 October 2010, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary 
B&L Holding GmbH (later renamed Saferoad Holding Germany 
GmbH) acquired 94.9% of the voting shares in Bongard & 
Lind GmbH Co KG (later renamed Saferoad Europe GmbH). 
Saferoad Holding Germany GmbH acquired the shares from 
one of the two remaining minority shareholders in Saferoad 
Europe GmbH in 2014 (1.49%). Saferoad Holding Germany 
GmbH also entered into a new shareholders’ agreement in 
2014 to acquire the shares from the remaining minority share-
holder (5.6%) in January 2017. In the consolidation Saferoad 
Europe GmbH and its subsidiary Saferoad RRS GmbH is 
reported as wholly owned subsidiaries from 2014 (no non-con-
trolling interests) as the conclusion is that the new shareholders’ 
agreement provides the Group with a present ownership 
interests in the shares.
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Future payments for acquired shares 
The Group has the following estimated liabilities (earn outs and seller credit) related to acquired subsidiaries :

NOK 1000 

Company 2016 2015

FLA Geoprodukter AB & Nordic Culvert AB  36 946  37 070 

Stolper AS  7 839  7 839 

Total estimated payments  44 786  44 910 

Classified as:

Other non current liabilities  20 649  19 063 

Current liability  24 137  25 846 

Total estimated payments  44 786  44 910 

Note 18 Financial strategy and financial risks

Capital management
Saferoad Group’s capital management and financing strategy 
secures funding for all its subsidiaries. The overriding goal is to 
provide the operating entities with sufficient financial capacity to 
perform their operational activities uninterrupted and to support 
Saferoad’s business strategy. 

The same banking syndicate, made up of four Scandinavian 
banks, has for several years been lenders of Saferoad. The 
Senior Facility Agreement (SFA) has been in place with the same 
banking syndicate since 2008. The agreement secures the Group 
term loans, Revolving Credit Facility (RCF), guarantees and over-
draft facilities. Loans were originally drawn in different tranches 
to match the operational currency flow expectations at the time 
of capitalisation. The different tranches of the loan portfolio vary 
in duration, with one amortising tranche and the other tranches 
with bullet maturity. Loans are held by several holding companies 
firstly to conform to security and pledge requirements from the 
creditors and secondly to avoid adverse tax effects. 

The SFA dictates a set of financial covenants to be complied 
with. During 2016 the loan covenants have been:

 · Total leverage: Net debt to EBITDA (quarterly)
 · Interest cover: EBITDA to net interest (quarterly)
 · Liquidity: Minimum liquidity (monthly)
 · Capital expenditure (annually) 

Saferoad is in compliance with all financial covenants at year end.

In case of a breach of a covenant or any other undertaking 
there is a remedy period wherein Saferoad’s owner, Cidron 
Triangle S.à r.l., has issued a guarantee of NOK 300 million 
to support the company. This guarantee terminates 1 July 
2019, one day after the termination date of the SFA bank debt 
at 30 June 2019. Any breach of covenants may be cured by 
utilisation of the guarantee, and any utilised amount will remain 
within the Group.

At year end Saferoad’s consolidated balance sheet showed total 
assets of NOK 4 818 million (NOK 5 515million). The SFA loans 

funded, ~50 per cent of this NOK 2 249 million. This involved 
full draw down on term loans and RCF, but part of the overdraft 
facility was still available at NOK ~50 million. The cash balance 
was NOK 329 million (note 22), net NOK 265 million when a draw 
down on a credit facility of NOK 63 million is deducted.

During 2016 shareholder’s loans of NOK 612 million were 
converted to equity, resulting in a significant improvement of the 
Group’s equity ratio to 25 per cent (19 per cent). Note 23 con-
tains additional disclosure on the Group’s external borrowings.

External borrowings are kept at a minimum by optimising the 
use of available liquidity, hereunder freeing up restricted cash 
positions. Saferoad has during the year focused on increasing 
its cash management efficiency through consolidating its cash 
positions in two cross border multicurrency cash pool and 
improve its cash forecasting routines. The aim of these efforts is 
to minimise the external funding costs. 

Financial risk management
Through its international operational and investment activity as 
well as its financing structure, Saferoad main risk exposures 
relate to volatile foreign exchange and interest rates, (re-)financ-
ing risk, liquidity and commodity risk. These risks can never be 
eliminated, but Saferoad has developed an appropriate financial 
risk mitigating strategy that aims at limiting impacts of volatile 
market price fluctuations to an acceptable level. 

Significant risk exposures have been assessed and measured 
against an acceptable risk tolerance level. This tolerance 
level considered both risk willingness, but most importantly 
Saferoad’s financial capacity to endure potentially, prolonged 
periods of increased market volatility. The goal is to minimise 
the effects of short-term volatility in the financial markets on 
Saferoad’s cash flow and its margins. The Group has during 
2016 applied a combination of financial instruments and “nat-
ural hedging” to lower the impact of volatile financial markets 
affecting interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. The 
Group refers to the term «natural hedging» when the financial 
risk is reduced by investing in different financial instruments or 
other contracts whose performance tends to cancel each other 
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out. A natural hedge is unlike other types of hedges in that it 
does not require the use of sophisticated financial products 
such as forwards or derivatives. The Group does not use 
financial instruments, including financial derivatives, for trading 
purposes or to undertake any speculative positions in the 
financial markets. As of December 31, 2016 the Group does 
not have any financial derivatives.

Financial risk management is handled from a centralised Group 
function. The desired benefit is increased transparency and 
enhanced control routines. Centralisation makes mitigation of 
the total net risks possible and at improved cost efficiency. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to perform 
its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s strategy is 
to manage the liquidity risk so that at any given point the Group 
will have sufficient liquidity to be able to satisfy its obligations. 
Sufficient liquidity shall be attained without risking unaccept-
able losses, or at the expense of the reputation of the Group. 
Saferoad maintains a liquidity reserve as a buffer for extraordinary 
events, not merely out of prudency, but also to comply with its 
liquidity covenant. The liquidity reserve is liquid assets, with the 
addition of any unutilised committed credit and overdraft facilities. 
Any committed facility shall only be included in the liquidity 
reserve if the time to maturity is at no point in time less than 12 
months. Saferoad’s goal is to have a liquidity reserve at any given 
time that amounts to at least 3-5 per cent of Saferoad’s revenues 
for the last twelve months, excluding restricted cash positions. 

Overdraft facilities and RCFs ensures that the Group has 
sufficient financial capacity to sustain its seasonal net working 
capital fluctuations. The liquidity demand increases throughout 
the spring, and peak pressure is during the summer time 
when the operational activity is at the highest. At the end of 
autumn and during winter time its commonly harsher weather 
conditions in the Group’s main regions and naturally reduces 
the capability to carry out operational activities. This pattern is 
augmented by the annual budget cycles of the authorities which 
are the ultimate customers of Saferoad. Reduced operational 
activity reduces net working capital requirements. Furthermore, 

Saferoad’s strategy is to continue its strong revenue growth, 
which necessitates expansionary capital investments (Capex). 
On top of this is the regular need for maintenance capex spend. 
This requires a well-founded financing platform as a base and a 
strong operational cash flow generation to accomplish. 

Saferoad’s two centralised cash pooling systems is key to allow 
swift capital flow to the parts of the Group with the greatest need 
at any given time. Excess and deficits at different bank accounts 
and companies should be pooled to utilise the credit facilities 
as little as possible. Wherever possible, bank accounts shall be 
incorporated into either of the two cash pools or be eliminated. 
Restricted cash positions shall actively and continuously be 
eliminated. Where guarantee arrangements can release liquidity 
at a cost-effective manner at the same time such undertakings 
should be done. To achieve a controlled and transparent cash 
management structure, relevant cash flow forecasting routines 
is a prerequisite. Effective utilisation of tools available for this 
helps lowering transaction costs and assist in actively managing 
account payables and receivables situation in Saferoad.

Credit risk
The Group has guidelines to ensure that sales of products and 
services take place only to customers with a satisfactory credit 
history. Customer credit in the form of payment days is only 
granted after credit consideration are made. That said, the average 
size of individual sales is low and there is no significant credit risk 
linked to individual customers or customers that can be regarded 
as a Group due to similarities in their credit risk. The Group’s 
diversified customer base in different jurisdictions and from various 
industries also lowers the concentration of counterparty credit risk 
from accounts receivables. Guarantees and credit insurances are 
used if deemed necessary and cost effective.

Realised losses during the year are classified as other operating 
expenses in the profit or loss (see note 9). The Group’s aging 
structure for outstanding trade receivables is relatively stable. 
Bad debt losses recognised in 2016 totaled NOK 7.4 million 
(NOK 29.6 million in 2015). The total provision for bad debt 
is NOK 46.8 million as of 31.12.2016 (NOK 57.3 million as of 
31.12.2015).

Aging analysis trade receivables, 31 December 2016

NOK 1000 Total Not due < 30d 30-60d 60-90d >90

Trade receivables 890 359 576 578 140 055 42 583 25 203 105 940

Provisionfor bad debt (46 783) (1 187) (1 217) (880) (369) (43 131)

Total accounts receivables 843 576 575 391 138 839 41 703 24 834 62 809

Aging analysis trade receivables, 31 December 2015

NOK 1000 Total Not due < 30d 30-60d 60-90d >90

Trade receivables 909 547 576 555 146 253 45 737 26 505 114 497

Provisionfor bad debt (57 255) (2 926) (416) (1 673) (359) (51 882)

Total accounts receivables 852 292 573 628 145 837 44 065 26 146 62 615
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Saferoad is also exposed to counterparty risk towards its financial 
intermediaries if they are not able to fulfil their commitments 
towards Saferoad. It is important that Saferoad operates with 
support from stable and reliable financial counterparties. Good 
banking relations from a group of core relationship banks must 
be maintained to secure future funding and can rely on qualitative 
services. Besides choosing well-established counterparties with 
high long-term credit ratings, the settlement risk is managed by 
efficient administrative routines within Saferoad. The counter-
parties to the cash management arrangements, bank debt and 
credit derivatives are from reputable banks and any counterparty 
risk in connection to these contracts is deemed negligible. The 
Group has not provided any guarantees for third parties liabilities, 
except for its subsidiaries. The maximum risk exposure is repre-
sented by the carrying amount of the financial assets, including 
derivatives, in the statement of financial position. 

Interest rate risk
The Group’s SFA debt is affected by floating market rates. 
During 2016 there were interest rate swaps in place, effectively 
converting parts of this floating interest exposure to fixed rates. 
Interest rate markets have remained low during 2016 and the 
preceding years from initiation of the contracts. This has caused 
Saferoad to be a payer on both the floating and fixed leg of the 
swap contracts. There has of course been an insurance effect 
present which was the reason they were put in place.

As of December 31, 2016 the Group does not hold any interest 
rate swap contracts. This means that the Group is fully exposed 
to changes in IBOR-curves on all outstanding SFA loans. Policy 
principle pertaining to interest rate risk is currently being evalu-
ated and whether to hedge part of this exposure is continuously 
considered. 

The sensitivity analysis below illustrates the effect on financial 
expenses and profit after tax of an increase or decrease of 
100 basis points in the interest rate (all other variables being 
unchanged): 

Sensitivity analysis interest, 31 December 2016

NOK 1000
Δ Financial 

expences
Δ 100 Profit/(loss) 

after tax

Δ 100 basis points increase (8 054) (6 443)

Δ 100 basis points decrease 1 415 1 132

Assumes effective tax rate of 20 per cent.

Foreign exchange rate risk
The Group operates internationally and consequently it is 
exposed to foreign exchange rate risk. The reporting currency 
of the Group is in NOK, but several of its subsidiaries have other 
functional currencies primarily SEK, EUR, PLN and DKK. This 
currency fluctuation exposure affects the financial statements in 
different manners. 

1) Transaction exposure from transactions in currencies 
different from the functional currency:  
Saferoad’s policy for transaction exposure is to minimise the 
impact of short-term changes in foreign exchange rates on 
costs and revenues by firstly creating natural hedges and sec-
ondly by hedging Saferoad’s contracted transaction exposure. 
Interest payments and amortisation of foreign debt, capital 
expenditure, divestments, dividends, tax and financial transac-
tions, and in foreign currencies should a be considered.

2) Translation exposure:  
This accounting risk can arise in two distinct and potentially 
opposing manners. Furthermore, they are reported in different 
parts of the Group consolidated financial statements:

 a) Subsidiary level 
Monetary assets and liabilities that are expressed in non-func-
tional currencies are reported on the balance sheet date, 

translated to the functional currency at the rate in effect 
on that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
reported at their fair value in non-functional currency are 
translated at the rate in effect on the balance sheet date. All 
other non-monetary items are translated at historical foreign 
exchange rates. All exchange rate differences are reported in 
profit or loss. 

 b) Consolidated accounts 
The statement of financial position of subsidiaries with a differ-
ent functional currency, including goodwill and adjustments for 
fair value made in connection with consolidation, is translated 
at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period, while 
the profit or loss is translated at an average of the year’s 
exchange rates. The exchange rate differences that arise as a 
result of the translation are reported directly in other com-
prehensive income. In the event of a sale or other disposal 
of a foreign company, the accrued accumulated translation 
difference is recognised in profit or loss together with the gain 
or loss resulting from the sale or disposal. 

The schedule below outlines how a 5 per cent strengthening/
weakening of the NOK exchange rate against the main curren-
cies would have impacted the 2016 balance and results while 
keeping all other parameters constant.
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NOK 1000 Δ NOK strengthening 5% NOK weakening 5%

Δ EBITDA (16 797) 16 797

Δ Depreciation and amortisation 18 497 (18 497)

Δ Financial expenses 4 352 (4 352)

Δ Cash and cash equivalents (8 127) 8 127

Δ Bank loans 73 057 (73 057)

Δ Shareholder loans 6 028 (6 028)

Δ Total impact equity pre-tax 77 010 (77 010)

Δ Total impact equity post-tax 61 608 (61 608)

The SFA defines several covenants with predefined levels that 
the company need to adhere to. Leverage ratio is a common 
covenant that in some instances has had adverse effects when 
large spreads exist between the currency rate at the reporting 
date (applied on balance sheet items, Net Debt) and the year-
to-date average currency rate (applied on P&L items in general 
and specifically on EBITDA for this covenant purpose). The SFA 
allows for calculation adjustments that effectively eliminates this 
risk without any cost. 

Commodity risk management 
Saferoad is reliant on certain commodities as input factors to 

offer its products and services. Saferoad’s main commodity 
price volatility exposure comes from purchases of raw materials 
in particular steel, but also; aluminum, zinc, plastics, as well as 
fluctuations in the price of electricity and oil. It t is not common 
market practice that customers accepts sharing this price vola-
tility risk through sales contracts. On the back of this, Saferoad 
aims to minimise its margin volatility from commodity price 
fluctuations by spreading its purchases over time and in smaller 
volumes. This lowers the risk of purchasing large quantities at 
period price peaks and averages out the price movements over 
time. This arrangement also lower the potential for an inventory 
build-up increasing the working capital demand.
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Note 19 Fair values of financial instruments

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amount and fair values that are recognised in the financial statements.

2016

NOK 1000 Notes

Derivatives at fair 
value through 

profit and loss
Loans and 

receivables
Available-for-sale 

financial assets

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Non-current assets

Loans to associated companies 29 127 127

Non-current receivables 30 603 30 603

Other investments 5 12 326 12 326

Current assets

Trade receivables 18 843 576 843 576

Other receivables 21 168 104 168 104

Total 0 1 042 410 12 326 0 1 054 736

Fair value 0 1 042 410 12 326 0 1 054 736

Unrecognised gain/loss 0 0 0 0 0

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities to credit institutions 19, 23, 27 1 824 152 1 824 152

Non-current liabilities related to acquisitions 17 28 794 28 794

Other non-current liabilities 17, 23, 27 54 472 54 472

Current liabilities

Accounts payables 495 968 495 968

Liabilities related to acquisitions 244 956 244 956

Other current liabilities 24 281 006 281 006

Current portion of non-current liabilities 23 61 576 61 576

Current liabilities to credit institutions 23 425 562 425 562

Total 0 0 0 3 416 485 3 416 485

Fair value 0 0 0 3 416 485 3 416 485

Unrecognised gain/loss 0 0 0 0 0
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2015

NOK 1000 Notes

Derivatives at fair 
value through 

profit and loss
Loans and 

receivables
Available for sale 

financial assets

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Non-current assets

Loans to associated companies 29   0 

Non-current receivables  24 334  24 334 

Other investments 5  12 986  12 986 

Current assets

Trade receivables 18  852 292  852 292 

Other receivables 21 207 387 207 387

Total  0 1 084 013  12 986  0 1 096 999

Fair value  0 1 084 013  12 986  0 1 096 999

Unrecognised gain/loss 0 0 0 0 0

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities to credit institutions 19, 23, 27  1 979 156  1 979 156 

Non-current liabilities related to acquisitions 17, 24  245 771  245 771 

Other non-current liabilities 17, 23, 27  619 696  619 696 

Current liabilities

Accounts payables  479 498  479 498 

Other current liabilities 24  327 678  327 678 

Current portion of non- current liabilities 23  54 433  54 433 

Current liabilities to credit institutions 23  438 521  438 521 

Financial derivatives 20  13 884  13 884 

Total  13 884  0  0  4 144 753  4 158 637 

Fair value  13 884  0  0  4 144 753  4 158 637 

Unrecognised gain/loss  0  0  0  0  0 

Fair value
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate 
the fair values: 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined 
using the forward exchange rate at the end of the reporting 
period. Interest rate swaps are valued using valuation tech-
niques and market observable inputs. For all derivatives, the 
fair value is confirmed by the financial institution with which the 
Group has entered into the contracts. 

The carrying amount of receivables has been reduced for 
impaired receivables and is considered equal to fair value. Trade 
payables are entered into on normal terms and conditions and 
the carrying amount is equal to fair value.

The fair value of non-current liabilities with floating interest 
rates is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates 
currently available for debt in similar terms, credit risks and 
remaining maturities. The carrying value is considered to be a 
reasonable approximation of fair value because the liability has a 
floating interest rate and the margin set in 2015 is considered to 
reflect current market terms.

The fair value of unquoted shares available for sale is estimated 
using appropriate valuation techniques. There is no material 
changes in fair value between 2016 and 2015.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group applies the following hierarchy when assessing and 
presenting the fair value of financial instruments; 

Level 1: Trading prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a 
significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Input for the asset or liability that is not based on 
observable market data.

All items other than other investment are measured at level 2.

For Other investments (shares) in level 3 the carrying amount is 
assessed to be reasonable approximation of fair value. 
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Assets measured at fair value

NOK 1000
Total

31.12.2016
Level 2

2016
Level 3

2016
Total

31.12.2015
Level 2

2015
Level 3

2015

Available for sale financial assets;

Shares  12 326  12 326  12 986  12 986 

Total assets measured at fair value  12 326  0  12 326  12 986  0  12 986 

Liabilities measured at fair value

NOK 1000
Total

31.12.2016
Level 2

2016
Level 3

2016
Total

31.12.2015
Level 2

2015
Level 3

2015

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss;

Interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts  0  0  13 884  13 884 

Total liabilities measured at fair value  0  0  0  13 884  13 884  0 

Opening balance assets measured at level 3, 01.01.2015  12 728 

Other  258 

Closing balance assets measured at level 3, 31.12.2015  12 986 

Other  (660) 

Closing balance assets measured at level 3, 31.12.2016  12 326 

There are no items in level 1.

There were no transfers in 2016 or 2015 between level 1 and level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of level 3 
fair value measurements.

See note 5 for a specification of Other investments. 
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Note 20 Financial derivatives

The Group may from time to time use forward agreements to 
hedge selected currency positions, and interest swaps to hedge 
interest rate fluctuations, considered necessary for the business 
operations of the Group. At year end 2016 and at year end 
2015 the Group had no forward currency contracts outstand-
ing. At year end 2016 the Group had no interest swaps. The 
Group does not apply hedge accounting. 

Interest swaps
The Group had interest swaps in which the Group receives 
floating and pays fixed STIBOR, NIBOR and EURIBOR-based 
interest. The interest swaps are used for hedging against profit 
fluctuations that arises as a result of interest rate changes. 
The allocation of interest swaps among various currencies is 
symmetrical to the distribution of non-current debt in various 
currencies. Previously the Group has secured 66 per cent of its 
interest, but at year end 2016 the Group has no interest swaps. 

2016

NOK 1000 

Nominal amount Currency Due date interest rate Fair value Carrying value

100 000 SEK 21.09.16 0.960 0 0

50 000 NOK 21.12.16 1.919 0 0

200 000 NOK 21.12.16 2.075 0 0

20 000 EUR 21.09.16 0.330 0 0

300 000 SEK 21.12.16 1.210 0 0

270 000 SEK 21.12.16 1.270 0 0

Total value 0 0

2015

NOK 1000 

Nominal amount Currency Due date interest rate Fair value Carrying value

100 000 SEK 21.09.16 0.960 (1 034) (1 034)

50 000 NOK 21.12.16 1.919 (527) (527)

200 000 NOK 21.12.16 2.075 (2 424) (2 424)

20 000 EUR 21.09.16 0.330 (721) (721)

300 000 SEK 21.12.16 1.210 (4 742) (4 742)

270 000 SEK 21.12.16 1.270 (4 435) (4 435)

Total value (13 884) (13 884)
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Note 21 Other current receivables 

 
NOK 1000 2016 2015

Unbilled revenue  87 209  135 096 

Prepayments to suppliers  14 915  29 232 

Prepaid taxes  16 990  18 703 

Other prepayments  19 731  32 457 

Receivables on employees, associated- and related parties  1 331  4 050 

Other receivables  79 628  68 241 

Total other current receivables  219 804  287 780 

Note 22 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
NOK 1000 2016 2015

Cash and bank deposits  314 274  497 887 

Restricted cash  14 702  9 768 

Total cash and cash equivalents  328 977  507 655 

See note 18 for description of cash pool systems.
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Note 23 Interest-bearing liabilities

 
The Group has the following non-current interest-bearing liabilities to credit institutions:

Liabilities to credit institutions 31.12.2016

NOK 1000 Currency Interest rate Due date Amount

Liabilites to credit institutions SEK STIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 974 608

Liabilites to credit institutions NOK NIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 430 550

Liabilites to credit institutions EUR EURIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 344 766

Liabilites to credit institutions DKK CIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 116 939

Total 1 866 862

Less current part (42 711)

Non-current 1 824 152

Liabilities to credit institutions 31.12.2015

NOK 1000 Currency Interest rate Due date Amount

Liabilites to credit institutions SEK STIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 1 083 890

Liabilites to credit institutions NOK NIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 436 609

Liabilites to credit institutions EUR EURIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 362 776

Liabilites to credit institutions DKK CIBOR 3M + 2019-06-30 129 047

Total 2 012 322

Less current part (33 166)

Non-current 1 979 156

Note 18 describes the covenants which the Group needs to comply with.

Other non-current liabilities 31.12.2016

NOK 1000 Amount

Financial leases 59 199

Other non-current liabilities interest bearing 13 830

Future payments for remaining shares (put option) 8 142

Other non-current liabilities non interest bearing 20 961

Total 102 131

Less current part (18 865)

Non-current 83 266
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Other non-current liabilities 31.12.2015

NOK 1000 Currency interest rate Due date Amount

Shareholders' loans EUR 12 % 2019-07-01 7 295

Shareholders' loans SEK 12 % 2019-07-01 81 309

Shareholders' loans NOK 12 % 2019-07-01 457 254

Shareholders' loans TRY 2017-11-11 1 420

Financial leasing 66 891

Other non-current liabilities interest bearing 19 120

Future payments for remaining shares (put option) 225 766

Other non-current liabilities non interest bearing 27 679

Total 886 734

Less current part (21 267)

Non-current 865 467

The table below summarises the maturity profile of non-current financial liabilities:

2016

NOK 1000 
Due within 

one year
Due within 
two years

Due within 
three years

Due within 
four years

Due within 
five years

Due after 
five years

Total interest-
bearing 

liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions - principal amount 117 158 64 977 1 805 552 0 0 0 1 987 688

Revolving credit facility 350 000 0 0 0 0 0 350 000

Liabilities to credit institutions - interest 109 255 83 978 44 783 0 0 0 238 016

Financial leases 22 858 16 722 13 238 6 028 4 692 493 64 031

Estimated payments remaining shares (put options) – note 17 220 819 0 5 634 0 0 2 508 228 961

Earn outs acquired shares – note 17 24 137 8 158 8 026 4 468 0 0 44 789

Other loans note 24 11 277 0 0 0 0 0 11 277

Total 855 504 173 836 1 877 233 10 496 4 692 3 001 2 913 485

2015

NOK 1000 
Due within 

one year
Due within 
two years

Due within 
three years

Due within 
four years

Due within 
five years

Due after 
five years

Total interest-
bearing 

liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions - principal amount 121 691 44 222 55 278 1 927 091 0 0 2 148 282

Revolving credit facility 350 017 0 0 0 0 0 350 017

Liabilities to credit institutions - interest 98 923 87 720 85 844 41 088 0 0 313 574

Loan from shareholders 0 7 192 299 834 240 251 0 0 547 278

Financial leases 19 596 19 963 13 011 7 748 6 868 4 218 71 405

Estimated payments remaining shares (put options) 0 225 766 0 0 0 0 225 766

Earn outs acquired shares 25 846 7 530 7 408 4 125 0 0 44 910

Total  616 073  392 393  461 375  2 220 304  6 868  4 218  3 701 232 

The Group has the following current liabilities to credit institutions:

Current liabilities to credit institutions

NOK 1000
2016

Carrying value
2015

Carrying value

Revolving facilities  350 000  350 017 

Other current liabilities to credit institutions  75 562  88 504 

Total current liabilities to credit institutions  425 562  438 521 
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Note 24 Other current liabilities

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Salary 39 650 46 265

Bonuses 18 956 18 721

Holiday pay 88 744 87 763

Other liabilities to employees 12 355 13 567

Prepayment from customers 20 526 32 957

Estimated future payment acquired shares (note 17) 24 137 25 846

Estimated future payment remaining shares (note 17) 220 819 0

Loans 11 277 0

Other current liabilities 89 498 102 559

Total other current liabilities 525 962 327 678

Note 25 Share capital, shareholders’ equity, shareholders’ loans and non-controlling interests

The share capital of Cidron Triangle AS on 31 December consists of the following shares:

Number of shares Share capital Share premium

14.09.16 Incorporation 2 400 101 0

12.12.16 Repayment (2 400) (101) 0

12.12.16 Capital increase 1 000 000 1 000 549 000

21.12.16 Capital increase 0 1 000 610 875

31.12.16 1 000 000 2 000 1 159 875

Number of shares are in full amount, but share capital and share premium are in NOK thousand.

Cidron Triangle AS was incorporated 14 September 2016. A 
capital increase was completed on 12 December 2016. Cidron 
Triangle S.à r.l. contributed the entire share capital of Saferoad 
Holding AB to the Company in exchange for the Company 
issuing new shares in the Company to Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. 
The subscription price was NOK 550 per share, of which NOK 
1 was share capital and NOK 549 was share premium. 

A second capital increase was completed on 21 December 
2016. Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. contributed shareholder loans 
which Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. had against Saferoad Holding AB 
to the Company in exchange for the Company increasing the 
nominal value of the shares held by Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. The 
subscription price was NOK 611.875 per share, of which NOK 
1 was share capital and NOK 610.875 was share premium.

Ownership structure:
Shareholders in Cidron Triangle AS on 31 December 2016:

Shareholders Ordinary shares Percentage

Cidron Triangle S.á.r.l 1 000 000 100.0 %

Total 1 000 000 100.0 %
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Cidron Triangle AS has a share capital of NOK 2 000 000 consisting of 1 000 000 ordinary shares with a face value of NOK 2.00 per share. 

No dividend from the parent company has been proposed for 2016.

The carrying value of the loans given by the present or former shareholders per 31 December:

Lender/related party

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Cidron Triangle Limited 0 534 831

Sten-Eric Lager 0 4 896

Manfred Bongard 5 452 5 771

Leszek Janusz 5 825 0

Other 0 1 761

Total 11 277 547 259

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests 2016

Accumulated 
non-

controlling 
interests

Non-
controlling 

interests 
share of 

Profit/loss 
2016

Dividends to 
non-controlling 

interests

Financial information (100% basis)

NOK 1000 Assets Liabilities Revenue
Profit/loss 

2016

Viacon Baltic/Georgia 28 438 1 936 0 253 027 187 015 432 651 5 213

Viacon Poland 54 086 10 229 4 501 413 980 219 150 576 302 36 445

Viacon Denmark/Finland/Norway 60 369 10 923 5 789 157 817 21 682 231 748 27 307

Other minorities 6 136 (2 345) 6 510 110 018 125 929 305 947 (9 176)

Sum non-controlling interests 149 028 20 743 16 799 934 842 553 776 1 546 649 59 790

Excess values acquisition Viacon 102 698 0

Total non-controlling interests 251 726 20 743 16 799

Non-controlling interests 2015

Accumulated 
non-

controlling 
interests

Non-
controlling 

interests 
share of 

Profit/loss 
2015

Dividends to 
non-controlling 

interests

Financial information (100% basis)

NOK 1000 Assets Liabilities Revenue
Profit/loss 

2015

 Viacon Baltic/Georgia 28 130 (392) 6 500 266 986 198 845 367 464 (649)

 Viacon Poland 49 690 16 941 1 965 393 553 209 602 636 193 57 371

 Viacon Denmark/Finland/Norway 58 379 10 650 4 367 156 686 25 512 219 971 26 624

 Other minorities 10 312 97 4 872 272 514 272 178 344 824 (2 191)

 Sum non-controlling interests 146 510 27 296 17 704 1 089 739 706 136 1 568 452 81 156

Excess values acquisition Viacon 113 095 0

 Total non-controlling interests 259 606 27 296 17 704

For an overview of non-controlling interest ownership percentages and principal places of business, see note 5 in the parent  
company accounts.

For the acquisitions of ViaCon, the non-controlling interests have been valued at fair value, thus full goodwill has been recognised.

The Group’s facility agreement has restrictions that may limit the dividend payments to minority shareholders.
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Note 26 Leasing, rental agreements

 
Aging structure of operational lease agreements

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Minimum rental 342 411 190 668

Within one year 92 929 66 926

After one year but no more than five years 203 206 118 136

More than five years 46 276 5 607

The Group has entered into different operational lease and rental agreements for machinery, offices and other facilities. Most of the 
agreements contain an option for extension.

Note 27 Pledged assets and guarantees

 
Pledged assets
The Group has a financing agreement with a bank syndicate of four banks. As part of this agreement, assets have been furnished as 
collateral for the following liabilities:

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Liabilities to credit institutions, non-current  1 824 152  1 979 156 

Other non-current liabilities  82 836  73 379 

Current part of non-current liabilities  61 576  54 433 

Liabilities to credit institutions, current  425 562  438 521 

Total  2 394 125  2 545 490 

Carrying value of assets pledged as collateral for liabilities

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Product rights, trademarks and others  21 489  3 815 

Tangible fixed assets  400 337  404 164 

of which: Buildings and land  119 449  130 813 

of which: Machinery and others  280 888  273 351 

Accounts receivable  338 418  366 575 

Inventory  328 067  314 884 

Bank deposits  13 418  6 102 

Total direct pledged assets from consolidated statement of financial position  1 101 730  1 095 539 
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The following shares in subsidiaries are pledged in favor of the bank syndicates’ financial agreement, which means that the majority 
of the Group’s assets are directly or indirectly pledged.

Borrowers Registered Office Corporate Identity no

Saferoad Holding AB (borrower, but shares not pledged) Sweden 556753-5470

Saferoad AS Norway 958 103 069

Saferoad V Holding AB Sweden 556826-4062

Saferoad Treasury AB Sweden 556493-1573

Saferoad Holding Germany GmbH Germany HRB 22342

ViaCon Holding AB Sweden 556661-6099

ViaCon International AB Sweden 556619-6159

ViaCon AB Sweden 556620-7519

ViaCon Production AB Sweden 556457-4472

ViaCon Bridges AB Sweden 556853-5073

Br. Berntsen AS Norway 810 547 472

ViaCon AS Norway 847 016 272

Saferoad Europe GmbH Germany HRB 22345

Saferoad RRS GmbH Germany HRB 22749

AS ViaCon Eesti Estonia 10398015

Armat ViaCon Latvija SIA Latvia 50003289621

Guarantors Registered Office Corporate Identity no

Saferoad Holding AB Sweden 556753-5470

Saferoad Holding Denmark ApS Denmark 315 89 487

Saferoad Holding Norway AS Norway 992 090 014

Saferoad AS Norway 958 103 069

Saferoad V Holding AB Sweden 556826-4062

SafeRoad Treasury AB Sweden 556493-1573

Saferoad Holding Germany GmbH Germany HRB 22342

ViaCon Holding AB Sweden 556661-6099

ViaCon International AB Sweden 556619-6159

ViaCon AB Sweden 556620-7519

ViaCon Production AB Sweden 556457-4472

ViaCon Bridges AB Sweden 556853-5073

EKC Sverige AB Sweden 556520-7478

Saferoad Smekab AB Sweden 556099-6869

Saferoad Birsta AB Sweden 556343-5220

Saferoad Traffic AB Sweden 556030-8073

MoraMast AB Sweden 556179-2598

Saferoad Vägbelysning AB Sweden 556537-6059

Vik Ørsta AS Norway 985 001 952

Euroskilt AS Norway 890 729 142

Eurostar AS Norway 976 962 699

Br Berntsen AS Norway 810 547 472

ViaCon AS Norway 847 016 272

Saferoad Daluiso A/S Denmark 21778702

Eurostar Danmark A/S Denmark 26994896

Saferoad Europe GmbH Germany HRB 22345

Saferoad RRS GmbH Germany HRB 22749

Saferoad UK Ltd UK  05697518

Saferoad VRS Ltd UK 05697126

Saferoad Sp.zo.o Poland 0000293157

Saferoad Grawil Sp.zo.o Poland
KRS 152355/

Regon 830016808

Saferoad Holland B.V. Holland 01177571

AS ViaCon Eesti Estonia 10398015

Armat ViaCon Latvija SIA Latvia 50003289621
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All pledged assets belong to companies in the Group that are 
party to the agreement, either as guarantors or as debtors. 
The separate entities in the Group act as guarantors pursuant 
to the Groups financing agreement if one of the following three 
conditions is satisfied:

The company represents;
 · More than 5% of the Group’s sales,
 · More than 5% of the Group’s EBITDA, or
 · More than 5% of the Group’s total assets

In accordance with the Group’s financing agreement, the 
aggregate unconsolidated gross assets of the Guarantors shall 
represent at least eighty per cent of the consolidated gross 
assets of the Group. The aggregate unconsolidated EBITDA 
of the Guarantors shall represent at least 80 per cent of the 
consolidated EBITDA and the aggregate unconsolidated turnover 
of the guarantors shall represent at least 80 per cent of the 
consolidated turnover of the Group. In order to comply with these 
regulations the Group has acceded additional companies as 
guarantors that do not meet the three conditions listed above.

As per 31 December 2016, based on the above-mentioned criteria’s, the following companies in the Group were borrowers and/or 
guarantors:

Saferoad Holding AB (borrower, but shares not pledged)
Saferoad Holding Norway AS
Saferoad Holding Denmark ApS
Saferoad V Holding AB
Saferoad Treasury AB

Saferoad Holding Norway AS
Saferoad AS

Saferoad AS
Vik Ørsta AS
Euroskilt AS
Eurostar AS
Br Berntsen AS
Saferoad Birsta AB
EKC Sverige AB
Saferoad Smekab AB
Saferoad Traffic AB
Moramast AB
Saferoad Vägbelysning AB
Saferoad UK Ltd
Saferoad Sp.zo.o
Saferoad Holland B.V.
Saferoad Holding Germany GmbH

Saferoad Holding Denmark ApS
Saferoad Dalusio A/S
Eurostar Denmark A/S

Saferoad UK Ltd
Saferoad VRS Ltd

Saferoad V Holding AB
ViaCon Holding AB

ViaCon Holdng AB
ViaCon International AB

ViaCon International AB
ViaCon AB
ViaCon Bridges AB
ViaCon AS
AS ViaCon Eesti
Armat ViaCon Latvija SIA
OY ViaCon AB
ViaCon Sp.zo.o
UAB ViaCon Baltic

ViaCon AB
ViaCon Production AB

Saferoad Holding Germany GmbH
Saferoad Europe GmbH
Saferoad RRS GmbH

Saferoad Europe GmbH
Saferoad RRS GmbH

Saferoad Sp.zo.o
Saferoad Grawil Sp.zo.o

Being a guarantor means that a company is jointly and severally 
liable for the financing according to the financing agreement and 
for the compliance by the Group with this agreement. The sepa-
rate legal entity’s liability as a guarantor is limited to that permitted 
according to the laws of the region where the company does 
business. This means that the companies do not have unlimited 
joint and several liability for the debts of the Group. 

According to the financing agreement, debtors and guarantors 
have accepted a negative pledge clause. This means that they 
and other legal entities in the Group are not entitled to pledge 

assets or future income to anyone other than the creditors, 
according to the finance agreement.

Guarantees
Guarantee obligations for the Group amounts to NOK 253 
million at year end 2016 consisting of bank guarantees with 
recourse, which are mainly performance guarantees, payment 
guarantees and letter of credit. Other guarantees provided 
where the related liability is included in the statement of financial 
position are not included in these numbers.
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Note 28 Other commitments and contingencies

The Group may from time to time be involved in legal proceed-
ings in various forms. While acknowledging the uncertainties of 
litigation, the Group is of the opinion that based on the informa-
tion currently available, these matters will be resolved without 
any material adverse effect individually or in aggregate on the 
Group`s financial position. For legal disputes where the Group 
assesses it probable (more likely than not) that an economic 
outflow will be required to settle the obligation, provisions have 
been made based on management`s best estimate.

In June 2015, the Danish Competition Council found Eurostar 
Denmark A/S, a company within the Group, non-compliant with 
the Danish and EU competition law by having engaged in joint 

bidding via a consortium with the competitor LKF Vejmarkering 
A/S in a tender for road marking in Denmark. Prior to entering 
the joint bidding consortium, Eurostar Denmark A/S sought 
legal advice, which stated that such a joint bidding consortium 
did not infringe applicable competition law. The decision was 
contested by Eurostar Denmark A/S and appealed to the 
Danish Competition Appeals Tribunal which upheld the decision 
in April 2016. Eurostar Denmark has appealed the decision from 
the Danish Competition Council and brought the case before 
the Danish Maritime and Commercial High Court where it is cur-
rently pending. The trial will most likely be held in 2018. Further 
disclosures of information as required by IAS 37 regarding this 
case is not disclosed due to the ongoing proceedings. 

Note 29 Transactions with related parties

An overview of subsidiaries is presented in note 5 for Cidron 
Triangle AS, and associated companies are presented in note 
5 in the Groups Financial Statements. Remuneration to the 
Board of Directors and Group Management is disclosed in note 
10. Transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated and 

do not represent related party transactions. The Group has the 
following transactions with shareholders, associated companies 
or companies that can be considered related to members of the 
Board of Directors or leading executives.

NOK 1000 2016 2015

Profit and loss:

Sales to related parties 328 14 910

Purchases from related parties 8 980 12 318

Interest expense shareholder loans 66 170 44 730

Balance sheet:

Loans to related parties 127 0

Receivables 11 145 17 701

Payables 77 1 262

Shareholder loan 0 547 259

Loans from other related parties 11 277 5 771
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Note 30 Events after the balance sheet date

In January 2017, the Saferoad Group subsidiary OY ViaCon AB 
acquired Solcon Oy in Finland from Pekka Salmenhaara, for a 
total estimated price of EUR 0.7 million for 100 per cent of the 
shares, for a cash consideration. The acquisition is expected 
to give a wider product range and improve ViaCon’s position in 
its niche within the Finnish market. The initial accounting for the 
acquisition recognises a goodwill of EUR 0.4 million, reflecting 
expected synergies from the acquisition. The company will be 
included in the Road Infrastructure segment, the Nordic region, 
from January 2017. Solcon Oy had in 2016 operating revenues 
of EUR 1.6 million and EBITDA of EUR 0.3 million.

In December 2016 the Saferoad Group signed an agreement to 
acquire a company within the Road Infrastructure segment, the 
European unit. For 2016 estimated turnover for the company 
is NOK 106 million and estimated EBITDA NOK 10 million. 
The company has a strong position in the geosynthetics 
market and is also active in the corrugated steel market. Final 
consummation of the agreement, planned within first half of 
2017, is subject to satisfactory due diligence and approval 
from anti-competition Authorities. The agreement has a 
walkaway clause, which provides the Group the right to exit the 

agreement contingent the payment of a fee. These processes 
are at early stages, a purchase price allocation is not finalised, 
and an initial accounting of the acquisition is thus currently not 
prepared.

In January 2017, the Saferoad Group subsidiary Limes Mobil 
GmbH, a part of the Road Safety Europe segment, was sold. 
The initial sales price is calculated to EUR 2 million, and the 
gain from the sale is estimated to EUR 1.9 million. In addition 
to the sales price of EUR 2 million, the buyer repaid Limes 
Mobil GmbH’s loan from Saferoad Group of EUR 5.2 mill, at 
the transaction date. Thus the total consideration was EUR 
7.2 million, whereof EUR 0.4 million is an escrow amount. 
Disclosure of information as required by IFRS 5 Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations, is considered not to be 
applicable for Limes Mobil GmbH, based on the assessment 
that company does not represent a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations, nor a significant 
company in the consolidated accounts.

Beyond this there were no significant events for the Group after 
the balance sheet date. 
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Note 31 Future IFRS amendments

The future consolidated financial statements will be affected by 
new and amended IFRS standards and interpretations which 
have been published but are not effective as of 31 December 
2016. The effect of new and amended IFRS standards and 
interpretations which may have a significant impact on the 
Group have been summarised below: 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 
from 1 January 2018, approved by the EU). IFRS 15 establish 
a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is 
that revenue is recognised to reflect the transfer of contracted 
goods or services to customers, and then at an amount that 
reflects the consideration the company expects to be entitled to 
in exchange for those goods or services. With a few excep-
tions, the standard applies to all income-generating contracts 
with customers and provides a model for the recognition and 
valuation of the sale of certain non-financial assets (e.g. sale of 
property, plant and equipment). 

IFRS 15 Impact on the Group
The exact effect of the adoption of IFRS 15 will be determined 
at least in part by the company’s specific business and 
economic conditions at the date of initial application and those 
circumstances cannot be fully anticipated prior to the date 
of transition. The Saferoad Group performed a preliminary 
assessment of IFRS 15, which is subject to changes arising 
from a more detailed ongoing analysis.

The preliminary analysis has shown that the main effects of IFRS 
15 concerns the timing of revenue for construction contracts. 
Some of the contracts might not fulfill the criteria recognition of 
revenue over time under IFRS 15.

If the final analysis concludes that none of the criteria under step 
5 is met, revenues will be recognised at a point of time, which is 
likely to be at the end of the contracts. The preliminary analysis 
indicates that the potential impact on the timing of revenue 
and corresponding recognition of profit for the Group will be 

moderate based on the current level of revenue generated by 
these contracts. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018 and 
approved by the EU). The standard replaces IAS 39. The stand-
ard introduces new requirements for classification and measure-
ment, impairment and hedge accounting. The standard will be 
implemented retrospectively, except for hedge accounting, but 
preparing comparative figures is not a requirement. The rules for 
hedge accounting should mainly be implemented prospectively 
but with some exceptions. The Group has made an initial 
assessment of the impact of IFRS 9 and do not anticipate any 
significant effects on the financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2019, but not 
approved by the EU). IFRS 16 replaces existing IFRS leases 
requirements, IAS 17. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
leases for both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) 
and the supplier (‘lessor’). The new leases standard requires 
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases, which 
is a significant change from current requirements. For lessor, 
IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the accounting require-
ments in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its 
leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for 
those two types of leases separately.

The Group has made an initial assessment of the impact of 
IFRS 16 and anticipates only a limited effect on the financial 
statements. No decision has been made with respect to the 
implementation of the standard which can be implemented 
using either the full retrospective or modified retrospective 
method.

Other new and amended standards not yet effective, are not 
expected to have a significant impact of the Group’s financial 
statements. 
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Financial Statements Cidron Triangle AS 

NOK 1000 Notes 2016

Total operating revenue 0

Personnel costs 4  0

Depreciation and impairment  0

Other operating costs 3  0

Total operating cost  0

Operating profit/(loss)  0

Financial income 0

Financial expenses  0

Net financial income/expenses  0

Profit/(loss) before tax  0

Tax 0

Profit/(loss) for the year  0

Other comprehensive income

Items to be reclassified to profit/loss in subsequent periods
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations

0

Items not to be reclassified to profit/loss in subsequent periods
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability

 0 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   0

Total comprehensive income for the year  0 

Statement of comprehensive income parent company (14.9 – 31.12)
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Statement of financial position (assets), parent company

NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.16

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS   

Financial non-current assets

Shares in subsidiaries 5 1 161 875

Total financial assets  1 161 875

Total non-current assets  1 161 875

CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables   

Other receivables 0

Total receivables  0

Cash and cash equivalents  0

 

Total current assets  0

 

Total assets  1 161 875
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Statement of financial position  
(shareholders’ equity and liabilities), parent company

NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.16

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   

Share capital  2 000

Share premium  1 159 875

Retained earnings 0

Total shareholders' equity  1 161 875

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities   

Other non-current liabilities 0

Total non-current liabilities  0

Current liabilities   

Other current liabilities 0

Total current liabilities  0

Total liabilities 0

 

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities  1 161 875

Pledged assets 0

Oslo, 10 March 2017 

Bård Martin Mikkelsen
Board member

Liisa Annika Poutiainen 
Board member

Synnøve Lyssand Sandberg
Board member

Gry Hege Sølsnes
Board member

Morten Holum
CEO

Carl Johan Henrik Ek
Chairman of the Board

Olof Bertil Faxander
Board member

Jan Torgeir Hovden
Board member

Knut Brevik 
Board member

Britt Sandvik
Board member
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Statement of changes in equity, parent company

NOK 1000
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Total shareholders 
equity

2016

Incorporation 14.09.2016 101 0 0 101

Repayment 12 December 2016 (101) 0 0 (101)

Capital contribution 12 December 2016 1 000 549 000 0 550 000

Capital contribution 21 December 2016 1 000 610 875 0 611 875

Total comprehensive income for the year 0 0

Shareholders equity at 31.12.2016 2 000 1 159 875 0 1 161 875

The share capital in Cidron Triangle AS as of 31st December 
2016 consists of 1 000 000 ordinary shares (class A) with 
nominal value of NOK 2.

The shares are owned 100 per cent by Cidron Triangle S.à r.l.

The articles of association does not contain specific decisions 
on voting rights.

Cidron Triangle AS was incorporated 14 September 2016. A 
capital increase was completed on 12 December 2016. Cidron 
Triangle S.à r.l. contributed the entire share capital of Saferoad 
Holding AB to the Company in exchange for the Company 
issuing new shares in the Company to Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. 

The subscription price was NOK 550 per share, of which NOK 
1 was share capital and NOK 549 was share premium. 

A second capital increase was completed on 21 December 
2016. Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. contributed shareholder loans 
which Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. had against Saferoad Holding AB 
to the Company in exchange for the Company increasing the 
nominal value of the shares held by Cidron Triangle S.à r.l. The 
subscription price was NOK 611.875 per share, of which NOK 
1 was share capital and NOK 610.875 was share premium.

See note 25 in Group accounts for details on share capital and 
shareholders’ equity.
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Cash flow statement (1.1 - 31.12), parent company

NOK 1000 Notes 2016

Cash flow from from operations

Profit/(loss) before tax 0

Net depreciation and amortisations 0

Interest income 0

Interest costs and other financial expenses 0

Net cash flow from operations  0

Cash flow from investments activities

Purchase/production of fixed and intangible assets 0

Other changes 0

Net cash flow from investments activities  0

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 0

Repayment of borrowings 0

Net cash flow from financing activities  0

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 0

Effect of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents 0

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 0

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  0
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Notes to the financial statements for Cidron Triangle AS 

Note 1 Company information

Cidron Triangle AS is a limited liability company, which is incor-
porated on 14 September 2016 and domiciled in Oslo with its 
registered office, Enebakkveien 150, 0680 Oslo, Norway. Cidron 
Triangle AS was established to serve as the parent company for 
the Saferoad Group. On 12 December 2016 Cidron Triangle S.à 
r.l. contributed all its shares in Saferoad Holding AB to Cidron 
Triangle AS in exchange for newly issued shares in Cidron 
Triangle AS, with the result that Cidron Triangle AS became the 
new parent company of the Group. It has not been any other 

activity in the company in 2016 other than holding shares in 
subsidiaries.

The financial statements of Cidron Triangle AS for the fiscal year 
2016 were approved in the board meeting at 10 March 2017.

The Group’s activities is described in note 1 of the consolidated 
financial statements.

Note 2 Accounting principles

Basis for preparation and statement of compliance
The annual accounts for Cidron Triangle AS have been prepared 
in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act § 3-9 and 
Regulations on Simplified IFRS as enacted by the Ministry of 
Finance 3 November 2014. In all material aspects, Norwegian 
Simplified IFRS requires that the IFRS recognition and measure-
ment criteria (as adopted by the European Union) are complied 
with, but disclosure and presentation requirements (the notes) 
follow the Norwegian Accounting Act and Norwegian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Standards. 

Cidron Triangle AS’ significant accounting principles are consist-
ent with the accounting principles for the Group, as described 
in note 2 of the consolidated financial statements. Where the 
notes for the parent company are substantially different from the 
notes for the Group, these are shown below. Otherwise, refer to 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost. If the 
carrying value of a subsidiary is higher than the estimated fair 
value, the subsidiary is written down. The write-down is shown 
in profit/loss. Previously recognised write-downs are reversed if 
the reason for write-downs no longer exists. Dividends, Group 

contributions and other distributions are recognised in the same 
year as they are recognised in the financial statement of the 
subsidiary according to the Norwegian Regulation of simplified 
IFRS § 3-1. If dividends or Group contribution exceed withheld 
profits after acquisition, the excess amount represents repay-
ment of invested capital, and the distribution will be deducted 
from the recorded value of the acquisition in the balance sheet 
statement for the parent company. 

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method. 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, bank deposits and 
other short-term, highly liquid financial assets with maturities of 
three months or less.

Events after the balance sheet date
New information on the company’s financial position after the 
end of the reporting period which becomes known after the 
reporting period is recorded in the annual accounts. Events after 
the reporting period that do not affect the company’s financial 
position at the end of the reporting period but which will affect 
the company’s financial position in the future are disclosed if 
significant.
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Note 3 Auditors’ fees

NOK 1000 2016

Ernst & Young  

Fee for audit 0

Tax services 0

Other audit related services 0

Non-audit services 0

Sum  0

 
Audit fees for 2016 has been expensed in Saferoad Holding AB. See note 9 in the consolidated financial statements for auditors’ 
fees for the Group.

Note 4 Employees and remuneration to key personnel

There are no employees in the company and the company are 
not required by law to have a pension scheme. 

The Board of Directors in Cidron Triangle AS has not received 
any remunerations in 2016 from Cidron Triangle AS. See note 
10 in the consolidated financial statements for remunerations 

from other companies in the Saferoad Group.

The CEO has his formal employment contract with the sub-
sidiary Saferoad AS, see note 10 in the consolidated financial 
statements for details, and has not received any remuneration 
from Cidron Triangle AS in 2016.

Note 5 Shares in subsidiaries

Company Corp ID No
Owner
share

Voting 
rights Carrying value

Saferoad Holding AB  556753-5470 100,00% 100,00% 1 161 875

Total value     1 161 875

Company Country Reg office Area
Time of 

acquisition

Saferoad Holding AB  Sweden Stockholm Holding 2016-12-12

Company
Equity 

31.12.2016
Equity 

31.12.2015
Profit /(loss) 

for 2016
Profit /(loss) 

for 2015

Saferoad Holding AB  1 185 445 2 080 452 (1 368 599) (69 685)
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The table below sets forth Cidron Triangle AS's ownership in 
subsidiaries through its ownership in Saferoad Holding AB.

Several of the subsidiaries in the second part of the table own 
shares in other subsidiaries. The owner share per cent in the 

table represents the indirect ownership of the ultimate parent, 
Cidron Triangle AS. All the subsidiaries listed are included in the 
consolidated statements for 2016. Time of acquisition relates to 
Saferoad Holding AB.

Shares in subsidiaries owned through subsidiaries Country Area
Owner
share

Time of 
acquisition 

Saferoad Holding Norway AS Norway Holding/Other 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Holding Danmark Aps Norway Holding/Other 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad V Holding AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Other 100.00% 2010-12-21

Saferoad Treasury AB Sweden Holding/Other 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad AS Norway Holding/Other 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Holding Germany GmbH Germany Holding/Other 100.00% 2010-11-01

Euroskilt AS Norway Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Trafikksikring AS Norway Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Vik Ørsta AS Norway Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Eurostar AS Norway Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Trading AS Norway Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Brødrene Berntsen AS Norway Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2010-07-01

Stolper AS Norway Road Safety Nordic 90.70% 2015-12-01

EKC Sverige AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad UK Ltd UK Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad VRS Ltd UK Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Traffic AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Smekab AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Birsta AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Vägbelysning AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Moramast AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

EKC Production AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Brödrene Berntsen AB Sweden Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Finland OY Finland Road Safety Nordic 83.09% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Antin Kaide OY Finland Road Safety Nordic 66.40% 2015-01-28

Saferoad Pomerania Sp.zo.o Poland Road Safety Nordic 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Europe GmbH Germany Germany Road Safety Europe 94.39% 2010-11-01

Saferoad RRS GmbH Germany Road Safety Europe 94.68% 2010-11-01

Brite Line Europe GmbH Germany Road Safety Europe 70.82% 2010-11-01

Bongard & Lind Verwaltungs GmbH Germany Road Safety Europe 94.68% 2010-11-01

Limes Mobil GmbH Germany Road Safety Europe 94.68% 2011-02-15

Bongard & Lind Noise Protection GmbH & Co KG Germany Road Safety Europe 94.68% 2012-01-01

Saferoad Holland BV Netherlands Road Safety Europe 100.00% 2010-03-01

Saferoad  Sp.zo.o Poland Road Safety Europe 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Grawil Sp.zo.o Poland Road Safety Europe 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Kabex Sp.zo.o Poland Road Safety Europe 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad RRS Polska Sp.zo.o Poland Road Safety Europe 94.68% 2008-09-01

Signaroad Sp.zo.o Poland Road Safety Europe 100.00% 2008-09-01

InterMetal Sp.zo.o Poland Road Safety Europe 94.68% 2011-02-15

Saferoad Slovakia Slovakia Road Safety Europe 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Czech Republic s.r.o Czech Republic Road Safety Europe 60.00% 2010-07-01

Dormark Belarus Road Safety Europe 51.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Romania SRL Romania Road Safety Europe 94.68% 2011-02-15

Saferoad Kisan Turkey Road Safety Europe 66.27% 2013-12-01

Marina Systeme GmbH Germany Holding/Other 100.00% 2008-09-01

Saferoad Holding Danmark Aps

Saferoad Daluiso AS Denmark Road Safety Nordic 100.00%  2008-09-01

Eurostar DK AS Denmark Road Safety Nordic 100.00%  2008-09-01
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Shares in subsidiaries owned through subsidiaries Country Area
Owner
share

Time of 
acquisition 

Saferoad V Holding AB

ViaCon Holding AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Other 100.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon International AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Other 100.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Nordic 100.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Production AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Nordic 100.00% 2010-12-21

Arot ViaCon ABV AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Nordic 100.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Bridges AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Other 100.00% 2011-05-31

FLA Geoprodukter AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Nordic 91.00% 2015-09-17

Nordic Culvert AB Sweden Road Infrastr. Nordic 100.00% 2015-11-09

ViaCon AS Norway Road Infrastr. Nordic 100.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Sp.zo.o Poland Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Construction Sp.zo.o Poland Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2010-12-21

Geotex Sp.zo.o Poland Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Polska Sp.zo.o Poland Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2010-12-21

Steel System Sp.zo.o Poland Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2013-12-01

ViaCon Hungary Hungary Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2010-12-21

Tubo Hungary Hungary Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2016-02-23

ViaCon Bulgaria Bulgaria Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2011-06-30

ViaCon Romania Romania Road Infrastr. Europe 75.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Turkey Turkey Road Infrastr. Europe 52.50% 2014-02-06

ViaCon Austria Austria Road Infrastr. Europe 52.50% 2010-12-21

ViaCon CR Czech Republic Road Infrastr. Europe 52.50% 2010-12-21

ViaCon SK Slovakia Road Infrastr. Europe 36.75% 2010-12-21

Oy ViaCon AB Finland Road Infrastr. Nordic 60.00% 2010-12-21

Rumtikli Oy Finland Road Infrastr. Nordic 60.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon A/S Denmark Road Infrastr. Nordic 60.00% 2015-12-22

AS ViaCon Esti Estonia Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2010-12-21

Armant ViaCon Latvija SIA Latvia Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Georgia Georgia Road Infrastr. Europe 36.00% 2011-12-01

UAB ViaCon Baltic Lithuania Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2010-12-21

ViaCon Statyba Lithuania Road Infrastr. Europe 42.00% 2010-12-21

ASPB Lithuania Lithuania Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2011-06-30

Pilani Lithuania Lithuania Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2011-06-30

ViaCon Baltic Pipe Lithuania Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2011-06-30

ViaCon Technologies COOO Belarus Road Infrastr. Europe 60.00% 2010-12-21

For the Cidron Triangle AS subsidiaries in the table where the indirect ownership interest is listed as less than 50 per cent, Cidron 
Triangle AS controls more than 50 per cent of the voting power via its voting power in the owner companies.

Associated companies Country Reg office
Owner
share

Voting
rights

Time of 
acquisition 

Ferrozink Trondheim AS Norway Trondheim  40.00% 40.00% 2008-09-01

IBOS Sp.zo.o Poland Inowrocław  50.00% 50.00% 2011-02-15

RindeRekon AS Norway Vik in Sogn  42.40% 42.40% 2008-09-01

Bjartmar Rinde AS Norway Vik in Sogn  42.00% 42.00% 2008-09-01

 
See note 5 in the consolidated financial statements for further details related to associated companies.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of Cidron Triangle AS

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Cidron Triangle AS comprising the financial statements of the
parent company and the Group. The financial statements of the parent company comprise the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2016, the income statement, statements of cash flows and changes in equity for
the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2016, statements
of comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion,

► the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations;
► the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the parent

company as at 31 December 2016, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway;

► the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the EU.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Norway, and we have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities as required by law and regulations. We have also complied with our other ethical
obligations in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information
Other information consists of the information included in the Company’s annual report other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Director
(management) is responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information,
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor's report – Cidron Triangle AS
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway for the financial statements of the parent company and International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU for the financial statements of the Group, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with law, regulations and generally accepted auditing principles in
Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

► identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

► obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control

► evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

► conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

► evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

► obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent auditor's report – Cidron Triangle AS
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on corporate governance
and corporate social responsibility
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information
presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements and in the statements on
corporate governance and corporate social responsibility and the going concern assumption is consistent
with the financial statements and complies with the law and regulations.

Opinion on registration and documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information», it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to ensure that the Company's accounting information is
properly recorded and documented as required by law and bookkeeping standards and practices
accepted in Norway.

Oslo, 24 March 2017
ERNST & YOUNG AS

Tore Sørlie
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
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Saferoad Group

Enebakkveien 150

0680 Oslo

T: +47 70 06 40 00

mail@saferoad.com

saferoad.com

D
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Our purpose is to make life on 
the road safer. Saferoad has an 
extensive offering of high-quality 
safety products and services for 
those who build and maintain 
roads, covering a broad spectre  
of the value chain. 

With around 2 700 employees in 
more than 20 countries, Saferoad 
is a leading road safety and road 
infrastructure solutions provider 
in Northern, Central and Eastern 
Europe.


